GLYCOSYLATION OF THIOGLYCOSIDES WITH BROMODIETHYLSULFONIUM BROMOPENTACHLOROANTIMONATE AS NOVEL ACTIVATOR



A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Chemistry Department of Chemistry Faculty of Science Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2018 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University

ไกลโคซิเลชันของไทโอไกลโคไซด์ด้วยโบรโมไดเอทิลซัลโฟเนียมโบรโมเพนตะคลอโรแอนติโมเนตเป็น ตัวกระตุ้นชนิดใหม่



วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรมหาบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาเคมี ภาควิชาเคมี คณะวิทยาศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2561 ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Thesis Title	GLYCOSYLATION OF THIOGLYCOSIDES WITH
	BROMODIETHYLSULFONIUM
	BROMOPENTACHLOROANTIMONATE AS NOVEL
	ACTIVATOR
Ву	Miss Ladawan Punrum
Field of Study	Chemistry
Thesis Advisor	Assistant Professor Panuwat Padungros, Ph.D.

Accepted by the Faculty of Science, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirement for the Master of Science

Dean of the Faculty of Science

(Associate Professor Polkit Sangvanich, Ph.D.)

THESIS COMMITTEE

_____ Chairman

(Associate Professor Vudhichai Parasuk, Ph.D.)

(Assistant Professor Panuwat Padungros, Ph.D.) Examiner

(Assistant Professor Warinthorn Chavasiri, Ph.D.)

...... External Examiner

(Sophon Kaeothip, Ph.D.)

ลดาวัลย์ พันธ์รัมย์ :

ไกลโคซิเลชันของไทโอไกลโคไซด์ด้วยโบรโมไดเอทิลซัลโฟเนียมโบรโมเพนตะคลอโรแอนติโมเน ตเป็นตัวกระตุ้นชนิดใหม่. (GLYCOSYLATION OF THIOGLYCOSIDES WITH BROMODIETHYLSULFONIUM BROMOPENTACHLOROANTIMONATE AS NOVEL ACTIVATOR) อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก : ผศ. ดร.ภาณุวัฒน์ ผดุงรส

ไกลโคซิลเลขันเป็นปฏิกิริยาเคมีที่มีความสำคัญในการสังเคราะห์คาร์โบไฮเดรตเช่น ไกลโคลิพิด ไกลโคโปรตีน และ โอลิโกแซคคาร์ไรด์ ไทโอไกลโคไซด์นิยมใช้เป็นสารตั้งต้นในการสังเคราฐ โอลิโกแซคคาร์ไรด์ เนื่องจากการสังเคราะห์ได้ง่าย มีความเสถียรสูงและสามารถถูกกระตุ้น ได้หลายวิธี คณะผู้วิจัยได้รายงานไกลโคซิลเลซันทางเคมีของไทโอไกลโคไซด์กระตุ้นด้วยโบรโมไดเอทิลซัล โฟเนียมโบรโมเพนตะคลอโรแอนติโมเนต (BDSB) จากการศึกษาสภาวะและพารามิเตอร์ต่างๆ เช่นตัวทำละลาย และอุณหภูมิ พบว่าไกลโคซิลเลซันกระตุ้นด้วยโบรโมไดเอทิลซัลโฟเนียมโบรโมเพนตะ คลอโรแอนติโมเนตเพียงอย่างเดียว ในตัวทำละลายอะซิโตไนไตรล์ ที่อุณหภูมิ –35 องศาเซลเซียส จนถึงอุณหภูมิห้อง ให้ผลิตภัณฑ์ร้อยละ 41 จากนั้นศึกษาโดยใช้ซิลเวอร์ทริเฟตเป็นตัวกระตุ้นร่วม พบว่าได้ผลิตภันฑ์สูงขึ้นเป็นร้อยละ 79 และมีสเตอริโอเคมีแบบเบต้าเพียงอย่างเดียว จากนั้น จึงนำสภาวะที่เหมาะสมนี้มาใช้ศึกษาปฏิกิริยาไกลโคซิลเลชัน ด้วยไกลโคซิลโดเนอร์ และ ไกลโคซิลแอคเซพเตอร์ชนิดต่างๆ พบว่าเมื่อใช้ไกลโคซิลโดเนอร์ต่างชนิดกัน ให้ผลิตภัณฑ์ร้อยละ 27 ถึง 85 นอกจากนี้เมื่อใช้ไกลโคซิลแอคเซพเตอร์ต่างชนิดกัน เกิดเป็นผลิตภัณฑ์ร้อยละ 20 ถึง 85 และจากการศึกษาตัวกลางที่เกิดขึ้น พบว่าเป็น ไกลโคซิลคลอไรด์ ซึ่งถูกยืนยันโครงสร้างด้วยเทคนิค เล็นเอ็มอาร์ สเปกโตรสโคปี

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

สาขาวิชา เคมี ปีการศึกษา 2561

ลายมือชื่อนิสิต	
ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก	

5872040023 : MAJOR CHEMISTRY

KEYWORD:

Bromodiethylsulfonium bromopentachloroantimonate, Glycosylation, Thioglycosides

Ladawan Punrum : GLYCOSYLATION OF THIOGLYCOSIDES WITH BROMODIETHYLSULFONIUM BROMOPENTACHLOROANTIMONATE AS NOVEL ACTIVATOR. Advisor: Asst. Prof. Panuwat Padungros, Ph.D.

Glycosylation is an important reaction in carbohydrate synthesis of complex molecules such as oligosaccharides, glycoproteins, and glycolipids. Thioglycosides are widely used as precursors in oligosaccharide synthesis due to their ease of preparation, high stability towards protecting group manipulations and variety of activation methods. Recently, bromodiethylsulfonium bromopentachloroantimonate (BDSB) was reported as a novel source of highly electrophilic bromine. It was used to efficiently initiate cation- π cyclizations of polyene at low temperature. Herein, we report a chemical glycosylation of thioglycosides activated by BDSB. Firstly, armed and disarmed glycosyl donors and glycosyl acceptors were synthesized by using modified previous method. Next, several reaction conditions and parameters are investigated. It is found that treatment of reaction mixture with only BDSB in acetonitrile at -35 °C to room temperature gives the desired O-linked disaccharide in 41% yield and selectivity. However, applying BDSB in combination with stoichiometric silver triflate (AgOTf) provides the disaccharide in 79% yield and exclusive β selectivity without using neighboring participation group at C2. Moreover, glycosylation of disarmed thioglycosides are performed under the optimal conditions to give disaccharides in 27-85% yield. Next, glycosylation with several alcohols are performed and gave the desired products in 20-85% yield. The glycosyl chloride intermediate in this glycosylation activated with BDSB is isolated and identified by NMR spectroscopy.

Field of Study:ChemistryAcademic Year:2018

Student's Signature Advisor's Signature

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First of all, I would like to thank to the thesis advisor Assistant Professor Dr. Panuwat Padungros for his expertise, support, and opportunity for work. He guided me valuable suggestion and knowledge during this research.

I am also grateful to thesis examinors: Associate Professor Dr. Vudhichai Parasuk, Assistant Professor Dr. Warinthorn Chavasiri, and Dr. Sophon Kaeothip for their valuable suggestions.

I am especially grateful to PETROMAT and Department of Chemistry, Faculty of Science, Chulalongkorn University for the financial support during this research.

Furthermore, A special thank to Professor Dr. Hiroshi Tamura and Professor Dr. Tetsuya Furuike from Kansai University for their guidance and chemical support.

Also to the member of Kankyo research group, I am so appreciated for their encouragement and support on my research.

I would also like to thank my member of PP research group for their support, friendship and kindness.

Most importantly, I would like to thank to my lovely family, who are always on my side to support me throughout the difficult time and entire process.

> จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Ladawan Punrum

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Pag	ge
ABSTRACT (THAI)iii	
ABSTRACT (ENGLISH)iv	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSv	
TABLE OF CONTENTS	
LIST OF FIGURES	
LIST OF TABLES	
LIST OF ABBRIVATIONS	
CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION	
1.1 Glycosylation of thioglycosides7	
1.2 Thiophilic reagents	
1.3 Solvent and temperature effect	
1.4 Mechanistic study of intermediate for glycosylation	
1.5 Bromodiethylsulfonium bromopentachloroantimonate (BDSB)	
1.6 Objectives	
CHAPTER II EXPERIMENTAL SECTION	
2.1 Chemicals and materials	
2.2 Instruments and equipment	
2.3 Synthesis of glycosyl donors	
2.4 Synthesis of glycosyl acceptors	
2.5 Preliminary screening of glycosyl donor for glycosylation	
2.6 Optimization conditions of glycosylation by using BDSB as an activator	

2.7 Examination of the substrates scope in glycosylation	40
2.8 Glycosyl intermediate study	52
CHAPTER III RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	55
3.1 Synthesis of glycosyl donors and glycosyl acceptors	55
3.2 Preliminary screening of glycosyl donor for glycosylation	58
3.3 Investigation for optimal conditions for glycosylation	59
3.4 Study the effect of solvents for glycosylation with BDSB/AgOTf	61
3.5 Scope of glycosyl donors	62
3.6 Scope of acceptors	64
3.7 Glycosyl intermediate study	66
CHAPTER IV CONCLUSION	71
REFERENCES	74
APPENDIC	79
VITA	96
จุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย	

vii

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1 Glycosylation of thioglycosides activated with Lewis acids or thiophilic	
reagents.	7
Figure 1.2 Glycosylation of 2-deoxy thioglycosides activated by NBS.	8
Figure 1.3 Glycosylation of thioglycoside 3 activated with IX/AgOTf	9
Figure 1.4 Glycosylation of thioglycosides activated with BDMS/AgOTf	9
Figure 1.5 Glycosylation of thioglycosides activated with DMTPSB/AgOTf1	0
Figure 1.6 Competitive glycosylation of armed and disarmed glycosyl donor activated with IDCP or NIS/Et ₃ SiOTf	10
Figure 1.7 Glycosylation of superarmed, armed, disarmed, and superdisarmed thioglycosides activated with iodine	1
Figure 1.8 Glycosylation of ethyl thioglycoside 34b and glycosyl acceptor 19 activated with IDCP. 1	1
Figure 1.9 Glycosylation of phenyl thioglycoside 39b and glycosyl acceptor 22 in different solvents	2
Figure 1.10 Glycosylation of glycosyl donor 24 and glycosyl acceptor 19 at low temperature 1	13
Figure 1.11 Mechanistic study of glycosyl sulfonium intermediate monitored by ¹ H NMR.	13
Figure 1.12 ¹ H NMR spectra of (a) glycosyl triflate 28 , (b) glycosyl sulfonium ion 29 , and (c) glycosyl sulfonium ion 30 1	4
Figure 1.13 In situ generation of glycosyl bromide monitored by NMR1	15
Figure 1.14 (a) Synthesis of bromodiethylsulfonium bromopentachloroantimonate (BDSB) and (b) cation- π cyclizations of geraniol derivatives	16
Figure 1.15 Glycosylation between glycosyl donor and glycosyl acceptor in various conditions	17

Figure 1.16 Investigation of glycosyl donors and acceptors for glycosylation1	7
Figure 2.1 Synthesis of ethyl thioglucopyranosides 33a, 33b, 34a, and 34b1	9
Figure 2.2 Synthesis of octadecyl thioglucopyranosides 35a, 35b, 36a, and 36b 2	1
Figure 2.3 Synthesis of octadecyl thiogalactopyranosides 37a, 37b, 38a, and 38b2	3
Figure 2.4 Synthesis of phenyl thioglucopyranoside 39b2	6
Figure 2.5 Synthesis of methyl 2,3,4-tri-O-benzyl- α -D-glucopyranoside 462	7
Figure 2.6 Synthesis of glycosyl acceptors 49 and 502	8
Figure 2.7 Synthesis of methyl 2,3,4-tri-O-benzoyl- α -D-glucopyranoside 533	0
Figure 2.8 Glycosylation with three different glycosyl donors (34a, 36b, and 39b)3	2
Figure 3.1 Glycosyl donors for glycosylation in this study5	5
Figure 3.2 Synthesis of glycosyl donors	6
Figure 3.3 Glycosyl acceptors for glycosylation in this study	7
Figure 3.4 TLC monitoring of glycosylation between 34a and 46 in DMF as solvent. 6	0
Figure 3.5 TLC analysis of glycosylation between 34a and cholesterol	4
Figure 3.6 Glycosyl intermediate 68 was monitored by TLC	6
Figure 3.7 ¹ H NMR spectra of glycosyl intermediate 68 (400 MHz, CDCl ₃). (a) When	
glycosyl donor 34b was used. (b) When glycosyl donor 36b was used	7
Figure 3.8 ¹ H NMR monitoring of glycosylation of thioglycoside 34a activated with	
BDSB/AgOTf (400 MHz, CD ₃ CN). (a) ¹ H NMR spectrum of thioglycoside 34a . (b)	
Thioglycoside 34a activated by BDSB. (c) When AgOTf was added into the reaction. 6	8
Figure 3.9 ¹ H NMR monitoring of glycosylation of thioglycoside 34a activated with	
BDSB/AgOTf (400 MHz, CD_3CN). (d) When CD_3OD was added at room temperature for	
10 minutes. (e) overnight reaction at room temperature. (f) $^1\mathrm{H}$ NMR spectrum of	
crude product after work-up6	9
Figure 3.10 Proposed mechanism of glycosylation of thioglycosides activated with	
BDSB/AgOTf in the work	0

Figure 4.1 The glycosyl donor scope of glycosylation with BDSB/AgOTf as activator. 71 Figure 4.2 The acceptor scope of α -thioglycoside with BDSB/AgOTf as activator.......72 Figure 4.3 The acceptor scope of β -thioglycoside with BDSB/AgOTf as activator.......73

Figure A1 ¹ H NMR spectrum of compound 54b (400 Hz, CDCl ₃)	80
Figure A2 ¹³ C NMR spectrum of compound 54b (100 Hz, CDCl ₃)	80
Figure A3 ¹ H NMR spectrum of compound 54 (400 Hz, CDCl ₃) using 36a as donor	81
Figure A4 ¹ H NMR spectrum of compound 54 (400 Hz, CDCl ₃) using 36b as donor	82
Figure A5 ¹ H NMR spectrum of compound 54 (400 Hz, CDCl ₃) using 38b as donor	83
Figure A6 ¹ H NMR spectrum of compound 54 (400 Hz, CDCl ₃) using 39b as donor	84
Figure A7 ¹ H NMR spectrum of compound 57a (400 Hz, CDCl ₃)	85
Figure A8 ¹³ C NMR spectrum of compound 57a (100 Hz, CDCl ₃)	85
Figure A9 ¹ H NMR spectrum of compound 57b (400 Hz, CDCl ₃)	86
Figure A10 ¹³ C NMR spectrum of compound 57b (100 Hz, CD ₃ CN)	86
Figure A11 ¹ H NMR spectrum of compound 58 (400 Hz, CDCl ₃).	87
Figure A12 ¹ H NMR spectrum of compound 59 (400 Hz, CDCl ₃).	87
Figure A13 ¹ H NMR spectrum of compound 60 (400 Hz, CDCl ₃).	88
Figure A14 ¹ H NMR spectrum of compound 61b (400 Hz, CDCl ₃)	88
Figure A15 ¹³ C NMR spectrum of compound 61b (100 Hz, CDCl ₃)	89
Figure A16 ¹ H NMR spectrum of compound 62a (400 Hz, CDCl ₃)	89
Figure A17 ¹³ C NMR spectrum of compound 62a (100 Hz, CDCl ₃).	90
Figure A18 ¹ H NMR spectrum of compound 62b (400 Hz, CDCl ₃)	90
Figure A19 ¹³ C NMR spectrum of compound 62b (100 Hz, CDCl ₃)	91
Figure A20 ¹ H NMR spectrum of compound 63b (400 Hz, CDCl ₃)	91

Figure A21 ¹ H NMR spectrum of compound 64 (400 Hz, CDCl ₃)	92
Figure A22 ¹³ C NMR spectrum of compound 64 (100 Hz, CDCl ₃)	92
Figure A23 ¹ H NMR spectrum of compound 66 (400 Hz, CDCl ₃)	93
Figure A24 ¹ H NMR spectrum of compound 67b (400 Hz, CDCl ₃)	93
Figure A25 ¹ H NMR spectrum of compound 68 (400 Hz, CDCl ₃)	94
Figure A26 ¹³ C NMR spectrum of compound 68 (100 Hz, CDCl ₃)	94
Figure A27 ¹ H NMR spectrum of compound 69 (400 Hz, CDCl ₃)	95



CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1 Glycosylation of donor 34a and acceptor 36 with different conditions34
Table 2.2 Glycosylation of thioglycoside 34b and acceptor 46 in different solvents.37
Table 3.1 Preliminary screening of glycosyl donors for BDSB/AgOTf-mediated
glycosylation
Table 3.2 Optimization conditions of glycosylation with BDSB as activator
Table 3.3 Solvents effect of glycosylation with BDSB/AgOTf61
Table 3.4 Investigation the scope of glycosyl donors for glycosylation. 63
Table 3.5 Investigation the scope of acceptors for glycosylation



LIST OF ABBRIVATIONS

α	alpha
β	beta
br	broad signal
δ	chemical shift
d	doublet
dd	doublet of doublet
DMF	N,N-dimethylformamide
dt	doublet of triplet
Hz	hertz
J	coupling constant
m	multiplet
NMR	nuclear magnetic resonance
o/n	overnight
ppm	part per million
rt	room temperature
S	singlet
THF	tetrahydrofuran
TLC	thin layer chromatography
(1)	

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Glycosylation of thioglycosides

Glycosylation is an important reaction in carbohydrate synthesis of complex molecules such as oligosaccharides, glycoproteins, and glycolipids.¹⁻³ These carbohydrates play an important role in biological processes and have been applied in pharmaceutical industry.⁴⁻⁵ Chemical glycosylation is a reaction between glycosyl donor (electrophile) and glycosyl acceptor (nucleophile) with a formation of a glycosidic bond. Thioglycosides are widely used as precursors in oligosaccharide synthesis due to their ease of preparation, high stability towards protecting group manipulations and variety of activation methods. Thioglycosides can be activated by both of Lewis acid and thiophilic reagent (Figure 1.1).⁶⁻⁷ Ferrier and co-workers first introduced mercury salt, HgSO₄, as an activator for glycosylation of thioglycosides.⁸ Since then several kinds of Lewis acids such as HgCl₂, AgOTf, Cu(OTf)₂, Yb(OTf)₃, La(OTf)₃, and Eu(OTf)₃ were examined as activators. Thiophilic reagents are also powerful activators. The most common thiophilic activators are methyl triflate (MeOTf), dimethyl(methylthio)sulfonium triflate (DMTST), iodonium dicollidine perchlorate (IDCP), and N-iodosuccinimide (NIS), these activators often used together with triflic acid (TfOH) or silver triflate (AgOTf).



Figure 1.1 Glycosylation of thioglycosides activated with Lewis acids or thiophilic

reagents.

1.2 Thiophilic reagents

Several studies reported the use of thioglycosides as glycosyl donors which were activated by thiophilic reagents. For example, Toshima and co-workers⁹ reported glycosylation of 2-deoxy thioglycoside activated by NBS (*N*-bromosuccinimide) in dichloromethane in 1991. The product **1** was obtained in 95% yield with α isomer as a major product (Figure 1.2a). Roush and co-workers¹⁰ also used NBS as an activator of 2-deoxy thioglycoside (Figure 1.2b). Glycosylation was performed smoothly to obtained disaccharide **2** in 92% yield with high α -selectivity.



Figure 1.2 Glycosylation of 2-deoxy thioglycosides activated by NBS.

In 2002, Meijer and Ellervik¹¹ examined the activation of thioglycosides with interhalogen/AgOTf under low temperature. In this work, glycosylation between thioglycoside **3** and acceptor **4** was performed under ICI/AgOTf or IBr/AgOTf. The result showed that using ICI/AgOTf and IBr/AgOTf with 1.5:1.5 mole ratio obtained product **5** in 50% and 87%, respectively. Increasing the mole ratio of IBr/AgOTf (2.0:3.0) obtained **5** in up to 97% yield (Figure 1.3).



Figure 1.3 Glycosylation of thioglycoside 3 activated with IX/AgOTf.

Recent years later, bromodimethylsulfonium bromide (BDMS) in a combination with silver triflate was reported as a new efficient activator for thioglycosides by Ye and co-workers.¹² However, BDMS alone was not powerful enough to activate thioglycosides (Figure 1.4). From this study, authors used ethyl thioglycosides and glycosyl acceptor **46** for glycosylation to afford disaccharides **7** and **8** in good yields (78% and 79%, respectively).



Figure 1.4 Glycosylation of thioglycosides activated with BDMS/AgOTf.

Moreover, Peng and Ye¹³ reported *O,O*-dimethylthiophosphonosulfenyl bromide (DMTPSB) as a new activator for activation of thioglycosides. Glycosylation of thioglycosides and acceptor **49** by using DMTPSB in the combination with AgOTf was smoothly performed to obtain disaccharides **7** and **8** with high yield in 89% and 85%, respectively (Figure 1.5).



Figure 1.5 Glycosylation of thioglycosides activated with DMTPSB/AgOTf.

Fraser-Reid and co-workers¹⁴ first introduced the concept of armed-disarmed effect for oligosaccharide synthesis. Glycosyl donors protected at hydroxyls with ether protecting groups (electron neutral or donating group) are called armed donors. In contrast, disarmed donors are glycosyl donor which hydroxyls protected with ester groups (electron withdrawing group). Competitive glycosylation between armed donor **10** and disarmed donor **11** with methanol were activated with IDCP or NIS/Et₃SiOTf. In both cases, products **12** derived from donor **10** was obtained as major product (Figure 1.6). This study presented that the armed glycosyl donor is more reactive than the disarmed donor.



Figure 1.6 Competitive glycosylation of armed and disarmed glycosyl donor activated with IDCP or NIS/Et₃SiOTf.

Moreover, Kamkhachorn and co-workers¹⁵ also reported the armed-disarmed effect of thioglycosides. In this work, glycosylation between glycosyl donors (14–17) and glycosyl acceptor 46 were proceeded by activating with iodine in 1,2-dichloroethane. The result showed that superarmed donor 14 is more reactive than armed donor 15, disarmed donor 16, and superdisarmed donor 17, respectively (Figure 1.7).



Figure 1.7 Glycosylation of superarmed, armed, disarmed, and superdisarmed thioglycosides activated with iodine.

1.3 Solvent and temperature effect

Furthermore, solvents and temperature also effect to the selectivity of glycosylation. Demchenko and Boons¹⁶ reported the effect of diethyl ether solvent in glycosylation. In this study, ethyl thioglycosides **34b** and glycosyl acceptor **19** was activated with IDCP at room temperature. The result showed that using dichloromethane as solvent gave mixture of α and β disaccharide **20** (α : β = 0.7:1). When using dichloromethane in combination with diethyl ether, the α selectivity of **20** increase with the ratio of α : β = 2:1. Increasing the mole ratio of diethyl ether gave α selectivity of **20** in up to α : β = 3.5:1 (Figure 1.8).

หาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย



Figure 1.8 Glycosylation of ethyl thioglycoside 34b and glycosyl acceptor 19 activated with IDCP.

Satoh and co-workers¹⁷ studied the solvent effect on glycosylation between phenyl thioglycosides **39b** and glycosyl acceptor **22** in different solvents such as acetonitrile (CH₃CN), diethyl ether (Et₂O), toluene, and dichloromethane (CH₂Cl₂). The activator was *p*-nitrophenylsulfenyl chloride/AgOTf. Results demonstrated that higher β selectivity of disaccharide **23** observed when acetonitrile or toluene was used. In the other hand, using diethyl ether or dichloromethane as solvent provided a mixture of α - and β -glycosides in 50:50 or 44:56 ratio, respectively (Figure 1.9).



Figure 1.9 Glycosylation of phenyl thioglycoside 39b and glycosyl acceptor 22 in

different solvents.

Chenault and co-workers¹⁸ reported temperature effect on glycosylation. Glycosylation of glycosyl donor **24** and glycosyl acceptor **19** was activated with TMSOTf in diethyl ether. The results showed that glycosylation was smoothly proceeded to obtain disaccharide **20** in moderate to high yield. Moreover, increasing of β selectivity was observed when low temperature (–78 °C) was applied (Figure 1.10). The generation of stable glycosyl triflate intermediate at low temperature allowed acceptor **19** to attack on the β face.¹⁹



Figure 1.10 Glycosylation of glycosyl donor 24 and glycosyl acceptor 19 at low temperature.

1.4 Mechanistic study of intermediate for glycosylation

To understand the mechanism of glycosylation, several glycosyl intermediates were monitored by NMR spectroscopy. In 2011, Mydock and coworkers²⁰ reported glycosyl sulfonium intermediate **26** as an intermediate when activation of ethyl thioglycoside **25** with MeOTf. ¹H NMR spectra showed that the anomeric H1 doublet signal of **26** shifted downfield to 5.27 ppm compared with H1 signal of **25**. This stable intermediate **26** (survived on preparative TLC) can be further applied as a donor to probe mechanism of thioglycoside with different conditions.



Figure 1.11 Mechanistic study of glycosyl sulfonium intermediate monitored by ¹H

NMR.

Nokami and co-workers²¹ also studied the intermediate of glycosylation. Glycosyl intermediate **29/30** were prepared by the addition of sulfides to an electrochemically generated glycosyl triflate **28** under low temperature as shown in Figure 1.12. The NMR result showed the proton signal of H1 of intermediate **29** was shifted to high field. Moreover, when dimethyl sulfide (Me₂S) was added to a solution of glycosyl triflate **28**, a single peak of β isomer was detected (Figure 12b). In contrast, when methyl phenyl sulfide (MeSPh) was added to a solution of glycosyl triflate **28**, the glycosyl sulfonium intermediate **30** was obtained. The ¹H NMR showed that the peaks of anomeric proton were attributed to the two signals hence there were 2 typed of intermediates (Figure 12c).



Figure 1.12 ¹H NMR spectra of (a) glycosyl triflate **28**, (b) glycosyl sulfonium ion **29**, and (c) glycosyl sulfonium ion **30**.

Furthermore, Kaeothip and co-workers²² reported a generation of glycosyl bromide **32**. Ethyl thioglycoside **31** was activation with bromine in CDCl₃. The glycosyl bromine **32** was detected by ¹H NMR. When the reaction was proceeded for 5 minutes, the mixture of α and β glycosyl bromine was observed (α : β = 1:11). These anomeric proton signal of **32a** and **32b** were shifted to downfield. Next, when the reaction was monitored at 3 and 10 hours, the increasing of α selectivity was observed (Figure 1.13).



Figure 1.13 In situ generation of glycosyl bromide monitored by NMR.

Chulalongkorn University

1.5 Bromodiethylsulfonium bromopentachloroantimonate (BDSB)

Recently, a new brominating reagent, bromodiethylsulfonium bromopentachloroantimonate (BDSB) was first introduced by Snyder and Treitler (Figure 1.14a).²³ It was synthesized by bromination of diethylsulfide in the presence of Lewis acid, SbCl₅. It was used as an electrophilic brominating source for the cation- π cyclizations of polyene. In 2009, cyclizations of geraniol derivatives were performed by using different halogen sources such as BDSB, Br₂/AgBF₄, TBCO, and NBS/Ph₃P. The results showed that using BDSB as brominating reagent, cyclizations were completed in 5 minutes and products were obtained in high yield (80%) compared with other halogen sources (Figure 1.14b).²⁴



Figure 1.14 (a) Synthesis of bromodiethylsulfonium bromopentachloroantimonate (BDSB) and (b) cation- π cyclizations of geraniol derivatives.

Hence, this result indicated such high electrophilicity of BDSB. Moreover, lower cost, stability, and structural similarity of BDSB compared to that of bromodimethylsulfonium bromide (BDMS) convinced us to examine the use of BDSB as an activator in glycosylation. Herein we first examined the use of BDSB as a novel activator of thioglycosides for glycosylation. Second, the scope of substrates was investigated. Finally, the glycosyl intermediate of this reaction was studied through NMR spectroscopy.

1.6 Objectives

1. To Investigate the optimal conditions of glycosylation by using BDSB as a novel activator. The effect of activator, solvent, and temperature for glycosylation will be studied.



Figure 1.15 Glycosylation between glycosyl donor and glycosyl acceptor in various



2. To investigate scope of substrates in the glycosylation by using the optimal condition . Glycosylation with various donors and acceptors will be studied.



Figure 1.16 Investigation of glycosyl donors and acceptors for glycosylation.

CHAPTER II

EXPERIMENTAL SECTION

2.1 Chemicals and materials

All chemicals were purchased and used without further purification. Commercial organic solvents were used for column chromatography. For glycosylation, all glassware was flame-dried under vacuum and backfilled with argon gas. Reactions were performed under positive pressure by using argon balloon. Activated molecular sieves (3 Å) were used for anhydrous conditions and glycosylations. Dried solvents were taken from a solvent purification system and kept over 4 Å molecular sieves prior to use. All reactions were monitored by thin layer chromatography (TLC). Compounds on TLC plates were detected by UV lamp at 254 nm or staining with *p*-anisaldehyde solution and heated. Column chromatography was performed on silica gel 60 (70-230 mesh). Deuterated solvents such as CDCl₃ and CD₃CN were used for NMR experiments.

2.2 Instruments and equipment

NMR spectra were recorded on Varian Mercury 400 MHz, Bruker Avance 400 MHz and Jeol EZC 400 MHz. EYELA rotary evaporator model N-1000 together with digital water bath model SB-1000 and pump form SIBATA circulating aspirator model WJ-20 were used to concentrate the solutions to dryness. Buchi Rotavapor model R210, heating bath model B493 and a DAIKAWA vacuum pump model 2Vp-180L 0.5 Pa. were used for azeotropic distillation to remove trace of moisture.

2.3 Synthesis of glycosyl donors



Figure 2.1 Synthesis of ethyl thioglucopyranosides 33a, 33b, 34a, and 34b.

2.3.1 Synthesis of ethyl 2,3,4,6-tetra-O-acetyl-1-thio- α -D-glucopyranoside (**33a**) and ethyl 2,3,4,6-tetra-O-acetyl-1-thio- β -D-glucopyranoside (**33b**)

Ethane thiol (1.1 mL, 14.9 mmol) and 3 Å MS (500 mg) were added into the solution of β -D-glucopyranoside peracetate (5 g, 12.8 mmol) in dried dichloromethane (CH₂Cl₂, 0.1 M) and the reaction was stirred for 30 minutes under positive pressure. After that, the reaction was cooled in the ice bath and BF₃.Et₂O (3.2 mL, 25.9 mmol) was added by using gastight syringe. The reaction was stirred continuously at room temperature for overnight. After reaction was complete, reaction was neutralized by addition of saturated sodium hydrogen carbonate (NaHCO₃) 15 mL and extracted with CH₂Cl₂ three times (3x15 mL). The organic layers were washed with distilled water and brine. The combined organic layers were dried with sodium sulfate (Na₂SO₄) and concentrated under reduced pressure to give crude as a pale yellow syrup. The crude product was purified by silica gel chromatography using 0, 5, 10, 20, 30, and 35% ethyl acetate/hexanes (EtOAc/hex) gradients. A mixture of α and β anomer were obtained as white solid. To separate α and β products, the mixture was recrystallized with diethyl ether/hexanes (Et_2O /hex) three times to get a white solid of α anomer **33a** (1.40 g, 3.57 mmol, 28%). After that, the filtrate was evaporated to remove solvents to get a white solid of β product **33b** (2.04 g, 5.20 mmol, 41%). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) of **33a**: δ 5.68 (d, J = 5.8 Hz, 1H), 5.36 (t, J = 9.8 Hz, 1H), 5.10-4.98 (m, 2H), 4.44 (m, 1H), 4.30 (dd, J = 12.3, 4.7 Hz, 1H), 4.08 (dd, J = 12.3, 2.0 Hz, 1H), 2.66–2.48 (m, 2H), 2.08 (s, 3H), 2.06 (s, 3H), 2.03 (s, 3H), 2.01 (s, 3H), 1.27 (t, J = 7.4 Hz, 3H). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) of **33b**: δ 5.22 (t, J = 9.4 Hz, 1H), 5.14–4.97 (m, 2H), 4.50 (d, *J* = 10.0 Hz, 1H), 4.24 (dd, *J* = 12.3, 4.9 Hz, 1H), 4.14 (dd, *J* = 12.3, 2.2 Hz, 1H), 3.71 (m, 1H), 2.80–2.61 (m, 2H), 2.08 (s, 3H), 2.06 (s, 3H), 2.02 (s, 3H), 2.01 (s, 3H), 1.27 (t, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 3H).

2.3.2 Synthesis of ethyl 2,3,4,6-tetra-O-benzyl-1-thio- α -D-glucopyranoside (**34a**)

Ethyl 2,3,4,6-tetra-O-acetyl-1-thio- α -D-glucopyranoside **33a** (701 mg, 1.79 mmol) was deprotonated by catalytic potassium carbonate (K₂CO₃, 26 mg, 0.19 mmol) in methanol (0.1 M) at room temperature for 3 hours. After removal of methanol, tetrabutylammonium iodide (TBAI, 66 mg, 0.18 mmol) was added. The mixture was then azeotroped with toluene and acetonitrile. After that, the mixture was treated with benzyl bromide (BnBr, 1 mL, 8.41 mmol) and sodium hydride (NaH, 60% dispersion in mineral oil, 572 mg, 14.3 mmol) in dimethyl formamide (DMF, 0.2 M) at 0 °C. The reaction was warmed slowly to room temperature by overnight stirring in the ice bath. The reaction was neutralized by addition of saturated NaHCO₃ 10 mL and extracted with EtOAc three times (3x10 mL). The organic layers were washed with distilled water and brine. The combined organic layers were dried with Na₂SO₄ and concentrated under reduced pressure to give crude as a light brown syrup. The crude product was purified by silica gel chromatography using 0, 5, and 10% EtOAc/hex gradients to yield a white solid 34a (948 mg, 1.62 mmol, 91%). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) of **34a**: δ 7.43–7.07 (m, 20H), 5.41 (d, J = 4.5 Hz, 1H), 4.95 (d, J = 10.8 Hz, 1H), 4.86-4.57 (m, 5H), 4.46 (dd, J = 11.4, 5.6 Hz, 2H), 4.19 (m, 1H), 3.89-3.80 (m, 2H), 3.76 (dd, J = 10.7, 3.7 Hz, 1H), 3.64 (t, J = 8.8 Hz, 2H), 2.64–2.45 (m, 2H), 1.27 (t, J = 7.4 Hz, 3H).²⁵

2.3.3 Synthesis of ethyl 2,3,4,6-tetra-O-benzyl-1-thio- β -D-glucopyranoside (**34b**)

Ethyl 2,3,4,6-tetra-*O*-acetyl-1-thio- β -D-glucopyranoside **33b** (500 mg, 1.27 mmol) was deprotonated by catalytic K₂CO₃ (24 mg, 0.17 mmol) in methanol (0.1 M) at room temperature for 3 hours. After removal of methanol, TBAI (47 mg, 0.13 mmol) was added. The mixture was then azeotroped with toluene and acetonitrile. After that, the mixture was treated with BnBr (730 µL, 6.14 mmol) and NaH (412 mg, 10.3 mmol) in DMF (0.2 M) at 0 °C. The reaction was warmed slowly to room

temperature by overnight stirring in the ice bath. The reaction was neutralized by addition of saturated NaHCO₃ 10 mL and extracted with EtOAc three times (3x10 mL). The organic layers were washed with distilled water and brine. The combined organic layers were dried with Na₂SO₄ and concentrated under reduced pressure to give crude as a light brown syrup. The crude product was purified by silica gel chromatography using 0, 5, and 10% EtOAc/hex gradients to get a white solid **34b** (532 mg, 0.91 mmol, 72%). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) of **34b**: δ 7.41–7.13 (m, 20H), 4.98–4.78 (m, 4H), 4.74 (d, *J* = 10.2 Hz, 1H), 4.64–4.52 (m, 3H), 4.47 (d, *J* = 9.8 Hz, 1H), 3.78–3.65 (m, 3H), 3.61 (t, *J* = 9.3 Hz, 1H), 3.46 (dd, *J* = 16.7, 7.5 Hz, 2H), 2.87–2.67 (m, 2H), 1.33 (t, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 3H).²⁶



Figure 2.2 Synthesis of octadecyl thioglucopyranosides 35a, 35b, 36a, and 36b.

2.3.4 Synthesis of octadecyl 2,3,4,6-tetra-O-acetyl-1-thio- α -D-glucopyranoside (**35a**) and octadecyl 2,3,4,6-tetra-O-acetyl-1-thio- β -D-glucopyranoside (**35b**)

Octadecane thiol (880 mg, 3.07 mmol) was added into the solution of β -Dglucopyranoside peracetate (1 g, 2.56 mmol) in dried CH₂Cl₂ (0.4 M) and the reaction was stirred for 30 minutes under positive pressure. After that, the reaction was cooled in the ice bath and BF₃.Et₂O (800 µL, 6.48 mmol) was added by using gastight syringe. The reaction was stirred continuously at room temperature for overnight. At that point, reaction was neutralized by addition of saturated NaHCO₃ 10 mL and extracted with CH₂Cl₂ three times (3x10 mL). The organic layers were washed with distilled water and brine. The combined organic layers were dried with Na₂SO₄ and concentrated under reduced pressure to give crude as a yellow syrup. The crude product was purified by recrystallization (three times) with Et₂O/hex (1/100 ratio) to get a white solid of β product **35b** (348 mg, 0.56 mmol, 22%). After that, the filtrate was concentrated and purified by silica gel chromatography using 0, 5, 10, 15, and 20% EtOAc/hex gradients to get a white solid of α product **35a** (477 mg, 0.77 mmol, 30%). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) of **35a**: δ 5.65 (d, *J* = 5.8 Hz, 1H), 5.36 (t, *J* = 9.8 Hz, 1H), 5.08–4.98 (m, 2H), 4.43 (m, 1H), 4.30 (dd, *J* = 12.3, 4.7 Hz, 1H), 4.07 (dd, *J* = 12.3, 2.1 Hz, 1H), 2.62–2.41 (m, 2H), 2.08 (s, 3H), 2.06 (s, 3H), 2.03 (s, 3H), 2.01 (s, 3H), 1.57 (m, 2H), 1.39–1.17 (m, 28H), 0.87 (t, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 3H). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) of **35b**: δ 5.21 (t, *J* = 9.4 Hz, 1H), 5.05 (m, 2H), 4.47 (d, *J* = 10.0 Hz, 1H), 4.24 (dd, *J* = 12.3, 4.9 Hz, 1H), 4.13 (dd, *J* = 12.3, 2.2 Hz, 1H), 3.70 (m, 1H), 2.74–2.58 (m, 2H), 2.07 (s, 3H), 2.05 (s, 3H), 2.02 (s, 3H), 2.00 (s, 3H), 1.64–1.49 (m, 2H), 1.42–1.16 (m, 30H), 0.87 (t, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 3H).²⁷

2.3.5 Synthesis of octadecyl 2,3,4,6-tetra-O-benzyl-1-thio- α -D-glucopyranoside (**36a**)

BnBr (172 µL, 1.45 mmol) and tetrabutylammonium hydrogen sulfate (TBAHS, 27 mg, 0.08 mmol) were added to the solution of 50% sodium hydroxide (50% NaOH, 1.6 mL). The reaction mixture was stirred vigorously for 30 minutes. After that, octadecyl 2,3,4,6-tetra-O-acetyl-1-thio- α -D-glucopyranoside **35a** (100 mg, 0.16 mmol) and CH₂Cl₂ (3 mL) were added. The reaction was stirred for overnight at room temperature. After the reaction was monitored by TLC and found that half of substrate was still remained. The reaction was stirred more for 4 days. At that point, the reaction was neutralized by addition of saturated ammonium chloride (NH₄Cl) 10 mL and extracted with CH_2Cl_2 three times (3x5 mL). The organic layers were washed with distilled water and brine. The combined organic layers were dried with Na_2SO_4 and concentrated under reduced pressure to give crude as a brown syrup. The crude product was purified by silica gel chromatography using 0 and 5% EtOAc/hex gradients to get a white solid **36a** (50 mg, 0.06 mmol, 38%). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) of **36a**: δ 7.44–7.06 (m, 23H), 5.36 (d, J = 4.8 Hz, 1H), 4.95 (d, J = 10.9 Hz, 1H), 4.86– 4.54 (m, 5H), 4.18 (d, J = 8.5 Hz, 1H), 3.84 (m, 2H), 3.76 (dd, J = 10.6, 3.6 Hz, 1H), 3.67–3.54 (m, 2H), 2.51 (m, 2H), 1.31 (m, 32H), 0.88 (t, J = 6.7 Hz, 3H).²⁷

2.3.6 Synthesis of octadecyl 2,3,4,6-tetra-O-benzyl-1-thio- β -D-glucopyranoside (**36b**)

BnBr (800 µL, 6.73 mmol) and TBAHS (137 mg, 0.40 mmol) were added to the solution of 50% NaOH (8 mL). The reaction mixture was stirred vigorously for 30 minutes. After that, octadecyl 2,3,4,6-tetra-O-acetyl-1-thio- β -D-glucopyranoside 35b (500 mg, 0.81 mmol) and CH₂Cl₂ (8 mL) were added. The reaction was stirred for overnight at room temperature. After the reaction was monitored by TLC and found that half of substrate was still remained. So, the reaction was stirred more for 3 days. At that point, the reaction was neutralized by addition of saturated NH₄Cl 10 mL and extracted with CH₂Cl₂ three times (3x10 mL). The organic layers were washed with distilled water and brine. The combined organic layers were dried with Na₂SO₄ and concentrated under reduced pressure to give the crude as a brown syrup. The crude product was purified by silica gel chromatography using 0, 5 and 10% EtOAc/hex gradients to get a white solid 36b (297 mg, 0.37 mmol, 46%). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) of **36b**: δ 7.42–7.08 (m, 20H), 4.92 (dd, J = 10.7, 2.5 Hz, 2H), 4.87–4.78 (m, 2H), 4.73 (d, J = 10.2 Hz, 1H), 4.65-4.49 (m, 3H), 4.43 (d, J = 9.7 Hz, 1H), 3.66 (m, 4H), 3.44 (m, 2H), 2.81–2.64 (m, 2H), 1.72–1.60 (m, 2H), 1.31 (m, J = 53.8 Hz, 30H), 0.87 (t, J = 6.6 Hz, 3H).²⁷



Figure 2.3 Synthesis of octadecyl thiogalactopyranosides 37a, 37b, 38a, and 38b.

2.3.7 Synthesis of octadecyl 2,3,4,6-tetra-O-acetyl-1-thio- α -D-galactopyranoside (**37a**) and octadecyl 2,3,4,6-tetra-O-acetyl-1-thio- β -D-galactopyranoside (**37b**)

Octadecane thiol (880 mg, 3.07 mmol) was added into the solution of β -D-galactopyranoside peracetate (1 g, 2.56 mmol) in dried CH₂Cl₂ (0.4 M). The reaction was stirred for 30 minutes under positive pressure. After that, the reaction was

cooled in ice bath and BF₃.Et₂O (790 μ L, 6.40 mmol) was added by using gastight syringe. The reaction was stirred continuously at room temperature for overnight. At that point, reaction was neutralized by addition of saturated NaHCO₃ 10 mL and extracted with CH₂Cl₂ three times (3x10 mL). The organic layers were washed with distilled water and brine. The combined organic layers were dried with Na₂SO₄ and concentrated under reduced pressure to give crude as a yellow syrup. The crude product was purified by silica gel chromatography using 0, 5, 10, 15, and 20% EtOAc/hex gradients to get white solid of α product **37a** (746 mg, 1.21 mmol, 47%) and β product **37b** (372 mg, 0.60 mmol, 23%). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) of **37a**: δ 5.71 (d, J = 5.2 Hz, 1H), 5.44 (d, J = 2.5 Hz, 1H), 5.24 (m, 2H), 4.58 (t, J = 6.5 Hz, 1H), 4.10 (dd, J = 6.4, 2.5 Hz, 2H), 2.52 (m, 2H), 2.14 (s, 3H), 2.07 (s, 3H), 2.04 (s, 3H), 1.99 (s, 3H), 1.43–1.15 (m, 30H), 0.87 (t, J = 6.7 Hz, 3H). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) of **37b**: δ 5.42 (d, J = 3.1 Hz, 1H), 5.23 (t, J = 10.0 Hz, 1H), 5.04 (dd, J = 10.0, 3.3 Hz, 1H), 4.47 (d, J = 9.9 Hz, 1H), 4.13 (qd, J = 11.3, 6.7 Hz, 2H), 3.92 (t, J = 6.6 Hz, 1H), 2.78–2.55 (m, 2H), 2.15 (s, 3H), 2.06 (s, 3H), 2.04 (s, 3H), 1.98 (s, 3H), 1.98 (s, 3H), 1.46-1.14 (m, 32H), 0.87 (t, J = 6.7 Hz, 3H).

2.3.8 Synthesis of octadecyl 2,3,4,6-tetra-O-benzyl-1-thio- α -D-galactopyranoside (38a)

Octadecyl 2,3,4,6-tetra-*O*-acetyl-1-thio- α -D-galactopyranoside **37a** (400 mg, 0.65 mmol) was deprotonated by catalytic K₂CO₃ (9 mg, 0.07 mmol) in methanol (0.1 M) at room temperature for 3 hours. After removal of methanol, TBAI (25 mg, 0.07 mmol) was added. The mixture was azeotroped with toluene and acetonitrile before using. After that, the mixture was dissolved in 2:1 mixture of DMF:THF (6 mL). Then BnBr (530 μ L, 4.50 mmol) and NaH (318 mg, 8.0 mmol) was added at 0 °C. The reaction was warmed slowly to room temperature by overnight stirring in an ice bath. The reaction was neutralized by addition of saturated NH₄Cl 10 mL and extracted with EtOAc three times (3x10 mL). The organic layers were washed with distilled water and brine. The combined organic layers were dried with Na₂SO₄ and concentrated under reduced pressure to give crude as a brown syrup. The crude product was purified by silica gel chromatography using 0, 5, and 10% EtOAc/hex

gradients to get a white solid **38a** (324 mg, 0.40 mmol, 62%). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) of **38a**: δ 7.46–7.15 (m, 20H), 5.46 (d, *J* = 5.5 Hz, 1H), 4.94 (d, *J* = 11.5 Hz, 1H), 4.84 (d, *J* = 11.8 Hz, 1H), 4.78–4.63 (m, 3H), 4.62–4.53 (m, 1H), 4.47 (d, *J* = 11.8 Hz, 1H), 4.40 (d, *J* = 11.8 Hz, 1H), 4.35–4.22 (m, 2H), 3.93 (m, 1H), 3.80 (dd, *J* = 9.9, 2.8 Hz, 1H), 3.59–3.47 (m, 2H), 2.51 (m, 2H), 1.64–1.48 (m, 2H), 1.42–1.15 (m, 30H), 0.88 (t, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 3H).

2.3.9 Synthesis of octadecyl 2,3,4,6-tetra-O-benzyl-1-thio- β -D-galactopyranoside (38b)

Octadecyl 2,3,4,6-tetra-O-acetyl-1-thio- β -D-galactopyranoside **37b** (200 mg, 0.32 mmol) was deprotonated by catalytic K_2CO_3 (7 mg, 0.05 mmol) in methanol (0.1 M) at room temperature for 3 hours. After removal of methanol, TBAI (12 mg, 0.03 mmol) was added. The mixture was azeotroped with toluene and acetonitrile. After that, the mixture was dissolved in 2:1 mixture of DMF:THF (3 mL). Then BnBr (290 μ L, 1.4 mmol) and NaH (167 mg, 4.2 mmol) were added at 0 °C. The reaction was warmed slowly to room temperature by overnight stirring in an ice bath. The reaction was neutralized by addition of saturated NH_4Cl 10 mL and extracted with EtOAc three times (3x10 mL). The organic layers were washed with distilled water and brine. The combined organic layers were dried with Na₂SO₄ and concentrated under reduced pressure to give crude as a brown syrup. The crude product was purified by silica gel chromatography using 0, 5, and 10% EtOAc/hex gradients to get a white solid **38b** (172 mg, 0.21 mmol, 66%). ¹Η NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) of **38b**: δ 7.44–7.18 (m, 20H), 4.95 (d, J = 11.7 Hz, 1H), 4.88 (d, J = 10.1 Hz, 1H), 4.79 (d, J = 10.1 Hz, 1H), 4.73 (s, 2H), 4.61 (d, J = 11.7 Hz, 1H), 4.43 (m, 3H), 3.96 (d, J = 2.3 Hz, 1H), 3.82 (t, J = 9.4 Hz, 1H), 3.57 (m, 4H), 2.79-2.60 (m, 2H), 1.71-1.58 (m, 2H), 1.41-1.16 (m, 30H), 0.88 (t, J = 6.7 Hz, 3H).



Figure 2.4 Synthesis of phenyl thioglucopyranoside 39b.

2.3.10 Synthesis of phenyl 2,3,4,6-tetra-O-benzyl-1-thio- β -D-glucopyranoside (**39b**)

Phenyl 2,3,4,6-tetra-*O*-acetyl-1-thio-β-D-glucopyranoside (500 mg, 1.14 mmol) was deprotonated by catalytic K₂CO₃ (16 mg, 0.12 mmol) in methanol (0.1 M) at room temperature for 3 hours. After removal of methanol, TBAI (48 mg, 0.13 mmol) was added. The mixture was azeotroped with toluene and acetonitrile. After that, the mixture was dissolved in DMF (0.1 M) then treated with BnBr (650 μ L, 5.47 mmol) and NaH (365 mg, 9.13 mmol) at 0 °C. The reaction was warmed slowly to room temperature by overnight stirring in the ice bath. The reaction was neutralized by addition of saturated NH₄Cl 20 mL and extracted with EtOAc three times (3x10 mL). The organic layers were washed with distilled water and brine. The combined organic layers were dried with Na₂SO₄ and concentrated under reduced pressure to give crude as a yellow syrup. The crude product was purified by silica gel chromatography using 0, 5, 10, and 15% EtOAc/hex gradients to get a white solid **39b** (637 mg, 1.01 mmol, 88%). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) of **39b**: δ 7.61 (dd, *J* = 6.5, 2.9 Hz, 2H), 7.45–7.18 (m, 23H), 4.89 (m, 4H), 4.75 (d, *J* = 10.3 Hz, 1H), 4.69 (d, *J* = 9.7 Hz, 1H), 4.60 (m, 3H), 3.85–3.78 (m, 1H), 3.78–3.63 (m, 3H), 3.53 (t, *J* = 9.1 Hz, 2H).²⁸

2.4 Synthesis of glycosyl acceptors



Figure 2.5 Synthesis of methyl 2,3,4-tri-O-benzyl- α -D-glucopyranoside 46.

2.4.1 Synthesis of methyl 2,3,4-tri-O-benzyl- α -D-glucopyranoside (46)

Methyl α -D-glucopyranoside (1.04 g, 5.36 mmol) and trityl chloride (TrCl, 3 g, 10.8 mmol) were azeotroped with toluene prior to use. Dried pyridine (0.3 M) was added and the reaction was stirred at room temperature for overnight. After the reaction was completed, pyridine was evaporated under reduced pressure by using toluene and acetonitrile as cosolvent to get a yellow syrup of 44. TBAI (198 mg, 0.54 mmol) was added into the reaction flask of 44 and then the mixture of crude and TBAI was azeotroped with toluene and acetonitrile. After that, the mixture was dissolved in DMF (0.2 M) then the reaction was treated with BnBr (4.6 mL, 38.6 mmol) and NaH (2.6 g, 65.0 mmol) at 0 °C. The reaction was slowly warmed to room temperature by overnight stirring in an ice bath. The reaction was neutralized by addition of saturated NH₄Cl 50 mL and extracted with EtOAc three times (3x20 mL). The organic layers were washed with distilled water and brine. The combined organic layers were dried with Na2SO4 and concentrated under reduced pressure to give crude as a dark brown syrup. The crude product was purified by silica gel chromatography using 0, 5, 10, 20, 30, and 35% EtOAc/hex gradients to get compound 45 as a pale yellow solid (yield of 45 was not calculated because the TrCl was still remained with compound **45**).

To deprotect of trityl group at C6 of compound **45**, THF (25 mL, 0.05 M) and 30% acetic acid (25 mL, 0.05M) were added to **45** and then 3 M of H_2SO_4 was added as a catalytic. The reaction was stirred at 80 °C for overnight. The reaction was

neutralized by addition of saturated NaHCO₃ 10 mL and extracted with EtOAc three (3x20 mL) times. The organic layers were washed with distilled water and brine. The combined organic layers were dried with Na₂SO₄ and concentrated under reduced pressure to give crude as a yellow syrup. The crude product was purified by silica gel chromatography using 0, 10, 20, 30, 40, 50, and 60% EtOAc/hex gradients to get compound **46** as a white solid (1.25 g, 2.70 mmol, 50% over 3 steps). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) of **46**: δ 7.41–7.24 (m, 15H), 4.99 (d, *J* = 10.9 Hz, 1H), 4.92–4.77 (m, 3H), 4.65 (m, 2H), 4.57 (d, *J* = 3.5 Hz, 1H), 4.01 (t, *J* = 9.2 Hz, 1H), 3.77 (dd, *J* = 11.5, 2.2 Hz, 1H), 3.73–3.61 (m, 2H), 3.56–3.44 (m, 3H), 3.36 (s, 3H).²⁹



2.4.2 Synthesis of methyl 4,6-O-benzylidene- α -D-glucopyranoside (47)

Methyl α -D-glucopyranoside (5 g, 25.8 mmol) and (–)-camphor-10-sulfonic acid (CSA, 250 mg, 1.08 mmol) were azeotroped with toluene and acetonitrile. The reaction was dissolved in dried acetonitrile (0.6 M). After that, the reaction was stirred at 90 °C for overnight. The reaction was quenched by addition of saturated NaHCO₃ 5 mL and extracted with EtOAc three times (3x30 mL). The organic layers were washed with distilled water and brine. The combined organic layers were dried with Na₂SO₄ and concentrated under reduced pressure to give crude as a yellow syrup. The crude product was purified by crystallization (three times) with EtOAc/hex to get a white solid of **47** (4.23 g, 15.0 mmol, 58%). After that, the mother liquor was concentrated and purified by silica gel chromatography using 50, 60, 70, 80, 90, and 100% EtOAc/hex gradients to get more white solid of **47** (282 mg, 1.0 mmol, 4%). Methyl
4,6-*O*-benzylidene- α -D-glucopyranoside **47** was obtained in total of 62% yield. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) of **47**: δ 7.49 (dd, *J* = 6.6, 2.8 Hz, 2H), 7.37 (dd, *J* = 5.1, 1.9 Hz, 3H), 5.54 (s, 1H), 4.81 (d, *J* = 3.9 Hz, 1H), 4.30 (dd, *J* = 9.6, 4.2 Hz, 1H), 3.94 (t, *J* = 9.2 Hz, 1H), 3.86–3.70 (m, 2H), 3.64 (dd, *J* = 9.1, 3.9 Hz, 1H), 3.50 (t, *J* = 7.9 Hz, 1H), 3.47 (s, 3H).³⁰

2.4.3 Synthesis of methyl 2-O-benzyl-4,6-O-benzylidene- α -D-glucopyranoside (49)

Methyl 4,6-O-benzylidene- α -D-glucopyranoside 47 (2 g, 7.08 mmol) and TBAI (261 mg, 0.71 mmol) was azeotroped with toluene and acetonitrile. After that, the mixture was dissolved in DMF (0.2 M) then the reaction was treated with BnBr (900 µL, 7.57 mmol) and NaH (1.15 g, 28.75 mmol) at 0 °C. The reaction was warmed slowly to room temperature by overnight stirring in an ice bath. The reaction was neutralized by addition of saturated NH₄Cl 30 mL and extracted with EtOAc three times (3x20 mL). The organic layers were washed with distilled water and brine. The combined organic layers were dried with Na₂SO₄ and concentrated under reduced pressure to give crude as a brown syrup. The crude product was purified by silica gel chromatography using 10, 15, 20, 30, 40, 50, 60 and 80% EtOAc/hex gradients to get a white solid 48 (1.83 g, 3.94 mmol, 56%) and a yellow syrup 49 (128 mg, 0.34 mmol, 5%). Moreover, the starting material 47 was recovered in 173 mg. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) of **48**: δ 7.54–7.21 (m, 15H), 5.55 (s, 1H), 4.87 (m, 3H), 4.70 (d, J = 12.2 Hz, 1H), 4.60 (d, J = 3.7 Hz, 1H), 4.27 (dd, J = 10.1, 4.7 Hz, 1H), 4.05 (t, J = 9.3 Hz, 1H), 3.83 (td, J = 9.9, 4.7 Hz, 1H), 3.71 (t, J = 10.2 Hz, 1H), 3.60 (t, J = 9.5 Hz, 1H), 3.56 (dd, J = 9.3, 3.7 Hz, 1H), 3.41 (s, 3H).^{30 1}H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) of **49**: δ 7.53–7.26 (m, 10H), 5.50 (s, 1H), 4.77 (d, J = 12.2 Hz, 1H), 4.69 (d, J = 12.2 Hz, 1H), 4.60 (d, J = 3.6 Hz, 1H), 4.25 (dd, J = 10.1, 4.7 Hz, 1H), 4.14 (t, J = 9.3 Hz, 1H), 3.80 (td, J = 9.9, 4.7 Hz, 1H), 3.69 (t, J = 10.2 Hz, 1H), 3.54–3.42 (m, 2H), 3.36 (s, 3H).³¹

2.4.4 Synthesis of methyl 2,3,6-tri-O-benzyl- α -D-glucopyranoside (50)

Methyl 2,3-di-*O*-benzyl-4,6-*O*-benzylidene- α -D-glucopyranoside **48** (500 mg, 1.08 mmol) and molecular sieves (3 Å) in dried acetonitrile (0.1 M) were stirred at room temperature for 1 hour. Sodium cyanoborohydride (NaBH₃CN, 350 mg, 5.57

mmol) was added to the reaction and stirred for 5 minutes. After that, iodine (I₂, 965 mg, 3.80 mmol) was added. The reaction was completed in an hour. The reaction was quenched by addition of saturated NaHCO₃ 10 mL and extracted with EtOAc three times (3x10 mL). The organic layers were washed with distilled water and brine. The combined organic layers were dried with Na₂SO₄ and concentrated under reduced pressure to give crude as a yellow syrup. The crude product was purified by silica gel chromatography using 0, 10, 20, 30, 40, and 50% EtOAc/hex gradients to get compound **50** as a colorless syrup (240 mg, 0.52 mmol, 48%). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) of **50**: δ 7.41–7.23 (m, 15H), 5.00 (d, *J* = 11.4 Hz, 1H), 4.80–4.51 (m, 6H), 3.78 (t, *J* = 9.1 Hz, 1H), 3.74–3.64 (m, 3H), 3.59 (dd, *J* = 15.5, 6.2 Hz, 1H), 3.53 (dd, *J* = 9.5, 3.5 Hz, 1H), 3.38 (s, 3H).³²



Figure 2.7 Synthesis of methyl 2,3,4-tri-O-benzoyl- α -D-glucopyranoside 53.

2.4.5 Synthesis of methyl 2,3,4-tri-O-benzoyl- α -D-glucopyranoside (53)

Methyl α -D-glucopyranoside (200 mg, 1.03 mmol), TrCl (345 mg, 1.24 mmol), and 4-dimethylaminopyridine (DMAP, 63 mg, 0.52 mmol) were azeotroped with toluene prior to use. Dried pyridine (0.1 M) was added and the reaction was stirred at room temperature for 3 days. After complete reaction, the remaining hydroxy groups of **51** was protected by treating with BzCl (180 µL, 1.55 mmol) and the reaction was stirred for 3 hours under positive pressure of Ar. Pyridine was removed by evaporating with toluene and acetonitrile as cosolvent. After that, the concentrated solution was neutralized with saturated NaHCO₃ 10 mL and extracted with EtOAc three times (3x10 mL). The organic layers were washed with distilled water and brine. The combined organic layers were dried with Na₂SO₄ and concentrated under reduced pressure to give crude **52** as a yellow syrup. The trityl group at C6 position of crude **52** was detritylated without purification. Ferric chloride (FeCl₃, 250 mg, 1.54 mmol) was added to the solution of crude **52** in CH₂Cl₂ (0.1 M). The reaction was

stirred at room temperature for overnight. The reaction was quenched by addition of saturated NaHCO₃ 10 mL and extracted with EtOAc three times (3x10 mL). The organic layers were washed with distilled water and brine. The combined organic layers were dried with MgSO₄ and concentrated under reduced pressure to give crude as a yellow syrup. The crude product was purified by silica gel chromatography using 0, 10, 20, 30, 35, and 40% EtOAc/hex gradients to get compound **53** as a white solid (171 mg, 0.34 mmol, 33% over 3 steps). ¹H NMR (400 MHz,) of **53**: δ 8.00–7.94 (m, 4H), 7.87 (m, 2H), 7.53–7.46 (m, 2H), 7.42–7.32 (m, 5H), 7.29–7.23 (m, 2H), 6.23 (t, *J* = 9.7 Hz, 1H), 5.52 (t, *J* = 9.9 Hz, 1H), 5.28 (dt, *J* = 6.6, 3.6 Hz, 2H), 4.05 (m, 1H), 3.83 (dd, *J* = 12.9, 2.2 Hz, 1H), 3.74 (dd, *J* = 12.9, 3.8 Hz, 1H), 3.47–3.44 (m, 3H).³³



CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

2.5 Preliminary screening of glycosyl donor for glycosylation



Figure 2.8 Glycosylation with three different glycosyl donors (34a, 36b, and 39b).

2.5.1 Glycosylation by using ethyl 2,3,4,6-tetra-O-benzyl-1-thio- α -D-glucopyranoside (34a) as glycosyl donor

Ethyl 2,3,4,6-tetra-*O*-benzyl-1-thio- α -D-glucopyranoside **34a** (58 mg, 0.10 mmol) and glycosyl acceptor **46** (69 mg, 0.15 mmol) were azeotroped with toluene and acetonitrile. Activated molecular sieves (3 Å) and dried CH₂Cl₂ (0.1 M) were added and the reaction was stirred at room temperature for 30 minutes under argon balloon. The reaction was treated with dried AgOTf (42 mg, 0.16 mmol) and BDSB (90 mg, 0.16 mmol) at 0 °C and stirred for 35 minutes. At that point, the reaction was quenched with saturated Na₂S₂O₃ 0.5 mL and saturated NaHCO₃ 0.5 mL then extracted with CH₂Cl₂ three times (3x1 mL). The combined organic layers were wash with distilled water and brine and dried with Na₂SO₄. The organic layer was concentrated to get crude as a yellow syrup. The crude was purified by silica gel chromatography using 0, 5, 10, 15, 20, 25, and 30% EtOAc/hex gradients to get a white solid of product **54** (55 mg, 0.056 mmol, 56%, α : β = 40:60). ¹H NMR spectra of **54** is consistent with previous report.³⁴

2.5.2 Glycosylation by using octadecyl 2,3,4,6-tetra-O-benzyl-1-thio- β -D-glucopyranoside (**36b**) as glycosyl donor

Octadecyl 2,3,4,6-tetra-O-benzyl-1-thio- β -D-glucopyranoside **36b** (201 mg, 0.25 mmol) and glycosyl acceptor **46** (232 mg, 0.50 mmol) were azeotroped with toluene and acetonitrile. Activated molecular sieves (3 Å) and dried CH₂Cl₂ (0.1 M) were added and the reaction was stirred at room temperature for 30 minutes under argon balloon. The reaction was treated with dried AgOTf (97 mg, 0.38 mmol) and BDSB (206 mg, 0.38 mmol) at 0 °C. After that, the reaction was warmed slowly to room temperature for 1 hour. At that point, the reaction was quenched with saturated Na₂S₂O₃ 0.5 mL and saturated NaHCO₃ 0.5 mL then extracted with CH₂Cl₂ three times (3x1 mL). The combined organic layers were washed with distilled water and brine and dried with Na₂SO₄. The organic layer was concentrated to get crude as a yellow syrup. The crude was purified by silica gel chromatography using 20, 25, and 30% EtOAc/hex gradients to get a white solid of product **54** (111 mg, 0.11 mmol, 44%, α : β = 50:50).

2.5.3 Glycosylation by using phenyl 2,3,4,6-tetra-O-benzyl-1-thio- β -D-glucopyranoside (**39b**) as glycosyl donor

Phenyl 2,3,4,6-tetra-*O*-benzyl-1-thio- β -D-glucopyranoside **39b** (50 mg, 0.079 mmol) and glycosyl acceptor **46** (56 mg, 0.12 mmol) were azeotroped with toluene and acetonitrile. Activated molecular sieves (3 Å) and dried CH₂Cl₂ (0.1 M) were added and the reaction was stirred at room temperature for 30 minutes under argon balloon. The reaction was treated with dried AgOTf (38 mg, 0.15 mmol) and BDSB (68 mg, 0.12 mmol) at 0 °C. After that, the reaction was warmed slowly to room temperature for overnight. At that point, the reaction was quenched with NaHCO₃ 0.5 mL and extracted with CH₂Cl₂ three times (3x1 mL). The combined organic layers were wash with distilled water and brine and dried with Na₂SO₄. The organic layer for oncentrated to give crude as a yellow syrup. The crude was purified by silica gel chromatography using 0, 5, 10, 15 and 20% EtOAc/hex gradients to get product **54** (25 mg, 0.025 mmol, 32%, α : β = 50:50).

2.6 Optimization conditions of glycosylation by using BDSB as an activator

2.6.1 Investigation of the optimal conditions for glycosylation

Table 2.1 Glycosylation of donor 34a and acceptor 36 with different conditions.

	BnO BnO BnO BnO BnO SEt	+ BnO BnO BnO BnO BnO BnO	3Å MS Activator OMe Solvent	BnO _{BnO} BnO _{BnO} 54	BnOOMe
Entry	Activator	Solvent	Temperature	Time	Yield (α:β)
1	BDSB	CH ₂ Cl ₂	0 °C to rt	o/n	64% (55:45)
2	BDSB	CH ₃ CN	–35 °C to rt	o/n	41% (17:83)
3	BDSB/AgOTf	CH ₂ Cl ₂	0 °C to rt	35 min	56% (40:60)
4	BDSB/AgOTf	CH ₃ NO ₂	–20 °C to rt	o/n	76% (37:63)
5	BDSB/AgOTf	CH ₃ CN	–35 °C to rt	3 h	79% (β only)
6	BDSB/AgOTf	DMF	−35 °C to rt	o/n	trace
		Ed it	AN AN AN AN AN AN		

Investigation the optimal conditions of glycosylation by using BDSB as an activator. Ethyl 2,3,4,6-tetra-*O*-benzyl-1-thio- α -D-glucopyranoside **34a** (glycosyl donor) and methyl 2,3,4-tri-*O*-benzyl- α -D-glucopyranoside **46** (glycosyl acceptor) were used in different solvent, temperature and activator (Table 2.1).

Entry 1: glycosyl donor 34a (62 mg, 0.11 mmol) and glycosyl acceptor 46 (102 mg, 0.22 mmol) were azeotroped with toluene and acetonitrile. Activated molecular sieves (3 Å) and dried CH_2Cl_2 (0.1 M) were added then stirred at room temperature for 30 minutes under argon balloon. Cooling the reaction to 0 °C in an ice bath, BDSB (97 mg, 0.18 mmol) was added and stirred at room temperature for overnight. The reaction was quenched with saturated $Na_2S_2O_3$ 0.5 mL and saturated $NaHCO_3$ 0.5 mL. After that, the reaction was stirred with saturated sodium potassium tartrate (3 mL) for 30 minutes. The reaction was extracted with CH_2Cl_2 three times (3x1 mL) and washed with distilled water and brine. The organic layers were dried

with Na₂SO₄ and concentrated. The crude was purified by silica gel chromatography using 0, 5, 10, 15, 20 and 25% EtOAc/hex gradients to provide a white solid of disaccharide **54** (69 mg, 0.070 mmol, 64%) with the ratio of α : β = 55:45 (α : β ratio was determined by ¹H NMR).

Entry 2: glycosyl donor 34a (80 mg, 0.14 mmol) and glycosyl acceptor 46 (50 mg, 0.11 mmol) were azeotroped with toluene and acetonitrile. Activated molecular sieves (3 Å) and dried acetonitrile (0.1 M) were added then stirred at room temperature for 30 minutes under argon balloon. The reaction was treated with BDSB (85 mg, 0.16 mmol) at -35 °C and stirred for 30 minutes. After that, the reaction was stirred and warmed to room temperature for overnight. The reaction was quenched with triethylamine (0.5 mL) and filtrated through a pad of Celite. The crude was purified by silica gel chromatography using 0, 5, 10, 15, 20 and 25% EtOAc/hex gradients to get a white solid of disaccharide 54 (44 mg, 0.045 mmol, 41%) with the ratio of α : β = 17:83 (α : β ratio was determined by ¹H NMR).

Entry 3: glycosyl donor 34a (58 mg, 0.10 mmol) and glycosyl acceptor 46 (69 mg, 0.15 mmol) were azeotroped with toluene and acetonitrile. Activated molecular sieves (3 Å) and dried CH_2Cl_2 (0.1 M) were added then stirred at room temperature for 30 minutes. The reaction was cooled to 0 °C in the ice bath and then BDSB (90 mg, 0.16 mmol) and dried AgOTf (42 mg, 0.16 mmol) were added. The reaction was stirred at room temperature for 30 minutes. The reaction was quenched with saturated Na₂S₂O₃ 0.5 mL and saturated NaHCO₃ 0.5 mL. After that, the reaction was stirred with saturated sodium potassium tartrate (3 mL) for 30 minutes. The reaction was extracted with CH_2Cl_2 three times (3x1 mL) and washed with distilled water and brine. The organic layers were dried with Na₂SO₄ and concentrated. The crude was purified by silica gel chromatography using 0, 5, 10, 15, 20 and 25% EtOAc/hex gradients to get a white solid of disaccharide **54** (55 mg, 0.056 mmol, 56%) with the ratio of α : β = 40:60 (α : β ratio was determined by ¹H NMR).

Entry 4: glycosyl donor 34a (94 mg, 0.16 mmol) and glycosyl acceptor 46 (51 mg, 0.11 mmol) were azeotroped with toluene and acetonitrile. Activated molecular sieves (3 Å) and dried nitromethane (CH_3NO_2 , 0.1M) were added then stirred at room temperature for 30 minutes under argon balloon. After that, BDSB (94 mg, 0.17

mmol) and dried AgOTf (48 mg, 0.19 mmol) were added at -20 °C and stirred for 1 hour. The reaction was stirred and warmed to room temperature for overnight. The reaction was quenched with saturated Na₂S₂O₃ 0.5 mL and saturated NaHCO₃ 0.5 mL. After that, the reaction was stirred with saturated sodium potassium tartrate (3 mL) for 30 minutes. The reaction was extracted with EtOAc three times (3x1 mL) and washed with distilled water and brine. The organic layers were dried with Na₂SO₄ and concentrated. The crude was purified by silica gel chromatography using 0, 5, 10, 15, 20 and 25% EtOAc/hex gradients to get a white solid of disaccharide **54** (83 mg, 0.084 mmol, 76%) with the ratio of α : β = 37:63 (α : β ratio was determined by ¹H NMR).

Entry 5: glycosyl donor 34a (94 mg, 0.161 mmol) and glycosyl acceptor 46 (50 mg, 0.108 mmol) were azeotroped with toluene and acetonitrile. Activated molecular sieves (3 Å) and dried acetonitrile (0.1 M) were added then stirred at room temperature for 30 minutes under argon balloon. BDSB (90 mg, 0.164 mmol) and dried AgOTf (48 mg, 0.187 mmol) were added at -35 °C and stirred for 1 hour. The reaction was stirred and warmed to room temperature for 3 hours. The reaction was quenched with triethylamine (1 mL) and filtrated through a pad of Celite. The crude was purified by silica gel chromatography using 0, 5, 10, 15, 20 and 25% EtOAc/hex gradients to get a white solid of β -disaccharide 54b (84 mg, 0.085 mmol, 79%). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) of 54b: δ 7.26–7.06 (m, 35H), 4.89 (dd, *J* = 10.9, 4.8 Hz, 2H), 4.82 (d, *J* = 10.9 Hz, 1H), 4.75–4.40 (m, 12H), 4.27 (d, *J* = 7.7 Hz, 1H), 4.10 (d, *J* = 9.9 Hz, 1H), 3.91 (t, *J* = 9.2 Hz, 1H), 3.79–3.70 (m, 1H), 3.66–3.32 (m, 9H), 3.24 (s, 3H). ¹H NMR spectra of 54b is consistent with previous report.⁴²

Entry 6: glycosyl donor 34a (96 mg, 0.164 mmol) and glycosyl acceptor 46 (50 mg, 0.108 mmol) were azeotroped with toluene and acetonitrile. Activated molecular sieves (3 Å) and dried DMF (0.1 M) were added then stirred at room temperature for 30 minutes under argon balloon. BDSB (91 mg, 0.166 mmol) and dried AgOTf (52 mg, 0.202 mmol) were added at -35 °C and stirred for 1 hour. The reaction was stirred and warmed to room temperature for overnight. At that point, the reaction was monitored by TLC and observed there was no consumption of glycosyl acceptor 46 but all glycosyl donor 34a was disappeared. So, the reaction was stopped by quenching with saturated Na₂S₂O₃ 0.5 mL and saturated NaHCO₃ 0.5

mL. After that, the reaction was stirred with saturated sodium potassium tartrate (3 mL) for 30 minutes. The mixture was extracted with EtOAc three times (3x1 mL) and washed with distilled water and brine. The organic layers were dried with Na₂SO₄ and concentrated to get the crude as yellow solid. NMR analysis of the crude mixture show only trace amount of the desired product.

After several optimizations, we found that the glycosylation of glycosyl donor **34a** and glycosyl acceptor **46** proceeded smoothly with BDSB/AgOTf in acetonitrile at -35 °C and then allowed to warm up to room temperature, to give disaccharide **54** in good yield and high β selectivity.

2.6.2 The solvent effect of glycosylation activated by BDSB/AgOTf

	BnO BnO BnO BnO BnO BnO SEt	+ Bno Bno Bno 46	3Å MS BDSB/AgOTf Me Solvent	BnO _{BnO} BnO- BnO- 54	BnO _{OMe}
Entry	Activator	Solvent	Temperature	Time	Yield (α:β)
1	BDSB/AgOTf	CH ₂ Cl ₂	−35 °C to rt	o/n	68% (48:52)
2	BDSB/AgOTf	CH ₃ CN	−35 °C to rt	o/n	85% (β only)
3	BDSB/AgOTf	Toluene	−35 °C to rt	2d	33% (63:37)
4	BDSB/AgOTf	Et ₂ O	−35 °C to rt	o/n	66% (55:45)

Table 2.2 Glycosylation of thioglycoside 34b and acceptor 46 in different solvents.

To study the solvent effect of glycosylation, ethyl 2,3,4,6-tetra-*O*-benzyl-1-thio- β -D-glucopyranoside **34b** (glycosyl donor) and methyl 2,3,4-tri-*O*-benzyl- α -D-glucopyranoside **46** (glycosyl acceptor) were used in different solvents such as CH₂Cl₂, acetonitrile, toluene, and Et₂O (Table 2.2).

Entry 1: glycosyl donor 34b (97 mg, 0.166 mmol) and glycosyl acceptor 46 (51 mg, 0.110 mmol) were azeotroped with toluene and acetonitrile. 3 Å MS and dried CH_2Cl_2 (0.1 M) were added and stirred at room temperature for 30 minutes

under argon balloon. The mixture was activated with BDSB (91 mg, 0.166 mmol) and dried AgOTf (43 mg, 0.167 mmol) at -35 °C to room temperature for overnight. The reaction was quenched with saturated Na₂S₂O₃ 0.5 mL and saturated NaHCO₃ 0.5 mL. After that, the reaction was stirred with saturated sodium potassium tartrate (3 mL) for 30 minutes. The reaction was extracted with CH₂Cl₂ three times (3x1 mL) and washed with distilled water and brine. The organic layers were dried with MgSO₄ and concentrated. The crude was purified by silica gel chromatography using 0, 5, 10, 15, 20 and 25% EtOAc/hex gradients to get a white solid of disaccharide **54** (74 mg, 0.075 mmol, 68%) with the ratio of α : β = 48:52 (α : β ratio was determined by ¹H NMR).

Entry 2: glycosyl donor 34b (85 mg, 0.145 mmol) and glycosyl acceptor 46 (50 mg, 0.108 mmol) were azeotroped with toluene and acetonitrile. 3 Å MS and dried acetonitrile (0.1 M) were added and stirred at room temperature for 30 minutes under argon balloon. The mixture was activated with BDSB (94 mg, 0.171 mmol) and dried AgOTf (57 mg, 0.222 mmol) at -35 °C to room temperature for overnight. The reaction was quenched with saturated Na₂S₂O₃ 0.5 mL and saturated NaHCO₃ 0.5 mL. After that, the reaction was stirred with saturated sodium potassium tartrate (3 mL) for 30 minutes. The reaction was extracted with EtOAc three times (3x1 mL) and washed with distilled water and brine. The organic layers were dried with Na₂SO₄ and concentrated. The crude was purified by silica gel chromatography using 0, 5, 10, 15, 20 and 25% EtOAc/hex gradients to get a white solid of β -disaccharide **54b** (90 mg, 0.092 mmol, 85%).

Entry 3: glycosyl donor 34b (58 mg, 0.099 mmol) and glycosyl acceptor 46 (31 mg, 0.067 mmol) were azeotroped with toluene and acetonitrile. 3 Å MS and dried toluene (0.1 M) were added and stirred at room temperature for 30 minutes under argon balloon. The mixture was activated with BDSB (55 mg, 0.100 mmol) and dried AgOTf (26 mg, 0.101 mmol) at -35 °C to room temperature for overnight. Reaction was monitored by TLC and found that half of glycosyl donor was still remained. So, more BDSB (55 mg, 0.100 mmol) and dried AgOTf (26 mg, 0.101 mmol) were added at -35 °C. The reaction was warmed slowly to room temperature for overnight. At that point, the reaction was quenched with saturated Na₂S₂O₃ 0.5 mL and saturated NaHCO₃ 0.5 mL. After that, the reaction was stirred with saturated

sodium potassium tartrate (2 mL) for 30 minutes. The reaction was extracted with EtOAc three times (3x1 mL) and washed with distilled water and brine. The organic layers were dried with MgSO₄ and concentrated. The crude was purified by silica gel chromatography using 0, 5, 10, 15, 20 and 25% EtOAc/hex gradients to get a white solid of disaccharide **54** (22 mg, 0.022 mmol, 33%) with the ratio of α : β = 63:37 (α : β ratio was determined by ¹H NMR).

Entry 4: glycosyl donor 34b (95 mg, 0.162 mmol) and glycosyl acceptor 46 (51 mg, 0.110 mmol) were azeotroped with toluene and acetonitrile. 3 Å MS and dried Et₂O (0.1 M) were added and stirred at room temperature for 30 minutes under argon balloon. The mixture was activated with BDSB (91 mg, 0.166 mmol) and dried AgOTf (43 mg, 0.167 mmol) in Et₂O at -35 °C to room temperature for overnight. The reaction was quenched with saturated Na₂S₂O₃ 0.5 mL and saturated NaHCO₃ 0.5 mL. After that, the reaction was stirred with saturated sodium potassium tartrate (3 mL) for 30 minutes. The reaction was extracted with EtOAc three times (3x1 mL) and washed with distilled water and brine. The organic layers were dried with Na₂SO₄ and concentrated. The crude was purified by silica gel chromatography using 0, 5, 10, 15, 20 and 25% EtOAc/hex gradients to get a white solid of disaccharide **13** (72 mg, 0.073 mmol, 66%) with the ratio of α : $\beta = 55:45$ (α : β ratio was determined by ¹H NMR).

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

2.7 Examination of the substrates scope in glycosylation



2.7.1 Methyl 2,3,4-tris-O-benzyl-6-O-(2,3,4,6-tetra-O-acetyl-D-glucopyranosyl)- α -D-glucopyranoside (55)

Glycosyl donor **33b** (65 mg, 0.166 mmol), glycosyl acceptor **46** (51 mg, 0.110 mmol) and 3 Å MS in acetonitrile (0.1 M) were stirred at room temperature for 30 minutes. The reaction was treated with dried AgOTf (43 mg, 0.167 mmol) at room temperature. After that, the reaction was cooled slowly to -35 °C then treated with BDSB (91 mg, 0.166 mmol). The reaction was stirred at -35 °C for 1 hour and allowed to warm up to room temperature for overnight. Reaction was monitored by TLC found that only glycosyl donor **33b** was consumed but glycosyl acceptor **46** was still remained in the reaction mixture. At that point, the reaction was quenched with saturated Na₂S₂O₃ 0.5 mL and saturated NaHCO₃ 0.5 mL. After that, the reaction mixture was extracted with EtOAc three times (3x1 mL) and washed with distilled water and brine. The organic layers were dried with MgSO₄ and concentrated. The crude was purified by silica gel chromatography using 0, 10, 15, 20, 25, 30 and 40% EtOAc/hex gradients to get a white solid of unidentified by-product mixture Moreover, glycosyl acceptor was recovered as a yellow syrup with 42 mg.



2.7.2 Methyl 2,3,4-tris-O-benzyl-6-O-(2,3,4,6-tetra-O-benzyl-D-glucopyranosyl)- α -D-glucopyranoside (**54**)

Glycosyl donor **36a** (82 mg, 0.101 mmol), glycosyl acceptor **46** (32 mg, 0.069 mmol) and 3 Å MS in acetonitrile (0.1 M) were stirred at room temperature for 30 minutes. The reaction was treated with dried AgOTf (27 mg, 0.105 mmol) at room

temperature. After that, the reaction was cooled slowly to -35 °C then treated with BDSB (57 mg, 0.104 mmol). The reaction was stirred at -35 °C for 1 hour and allowed to warm up to room temperature for overnight. At that point, the reaction was quenched with saturated Na₂S₂O₃ 0.5 mL and saturated NaHCO₃ 0.5 mL. After that, the reaction was stirred with saturated sodium potassium tartrate (2 mL) for 30 minutes. The reaction mixture was extracted with EtOAc three times (3x1 mL) and washed with distilled water and brine. The organic layers were dried with MgSO₄ and concentrated. The crude was purified by silica gel chromatography using 0, 5, 10, 15, 20, 25 and 30% EtOAc/hex gradients to get a white solid **54** (44 mg, 0.045 mmol, 65%) with the ratio of α : β = 12:88 (α : β ratio was determined by ¹H NMR). ¹H NMR (400 MHz,) of **54**: δ 7.43–7.00 (m, 207H), 5.05–4.86 (m, 21H), 4.86–4.42 (m, 72H), 4.35 (d, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 5H), 4.19 (dd, *J* = 10.7, 1.8 Hz, 5H), 4.04–3.92 (m, 7H), 3.88–3.78 (m, 8H), 3.78–3.38 (m, 54H), 3.36 (s, 1H), 3.33 (s, 7H). Moreover, glycosyl acceptor was recovered as a colorless syrup with 7 mg.



2.7.3 Methyl 2,3,4-tris-O-benzyl-6-O-(2,3,4,6-tetra-O-benzyl-D-glucopyranosyl)- α -D-glucopyranoside (54)

Glycosyl donor **36b** (78 mg, 0.096 mmol), glycosyl acceptor **46** (30 mg, 0.065 mmol) and 3 Å MS in acetonitrile (0.1 M) were stirred at room temperature for 30 minutes. The reaction was treated with dried AgOTf (25 mg, 0.097 mmol) at room temperature. After that, the reaction was cooled slowly to -35 °C then treated with BDSB (54 mg, 0.098 mmol). The reaction was stirred at -35 °C for 1 hour and allowed to warm up to room temperature for overnight. At that point, the reaction was quenched with saturated Na₂S₂O₃ 0.5 mL and saturated NaHCO₃ 0.5 mL. After that, the reaction minutes. The reaction mixture was extracted with EtOAc three times (3x1 mL) and washed with distilled water and brine. The organic layers were dried with MgSO₄ and concentrated. The crude was purified by silica gel chromatography using 0, 5, 10, 15,

20, 25 and 30% EtOAc/hex gradients to get a white solid **54** (17 mg, 0.017 mmol, 26%) with the ratio of α : β = 21:79 (α : β ratio was determined by ¹H NMR). ¹H NMR (400 MHz,) of **54**: δ 7.37–7.09 (m, 69H), 5.01–4.93 (m, 4H), 4.93–4.87 (m, 2H), 4.78 (ddd, *J* = 9.0, 8.2, 4.2 Hz, 8H), 4.72 (d, *J* = 4.3 Hz, 1H), 4.70–4.46 (m, 12H), 4.42 (t, *J* = 11.1 Hz, 1H), 4.34 (d, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 1H), 4.18 (dd, *J* = 10.8, 1.8 Hz, 1H), 4.02–3.91 (m, 2H), 3.86–3.38 (m, 19H), 3.34 (s, 1H), 3.32 (s, 4H). Moreover, glycosyl acceptor was recovered as a colorless syrup with 15 mg.



2.7.4 Methyl 2,3,4-tris-O-benzyl-6-O-(2,3,4,6-tetra-O-benzyl-D-galactopyranosyl)- α -D-glucopyranoside (**56**)

Glycosyl donor 38a (78 mg, 0.096 mmol), glycosyl acceptor 46 (30 mg, 0.065 mmol) and 3 Å MS in acetonitrile (0.1 M) were stirred at room temperature for 30 minutes. The reaction was treated with dried AgOTf (25 mg, 0.097 mmol) at room temperature. After that, the reaction was cooled slowly to −35 °C then treated with BDSB (54 mg, 0.098 mmol). The reaction was stirred at -35 °C for 1 hour and allowed to warm up to room temperature for overnight. At that point, the reaction was quenched with saturated Na₂S₂O₃ 0.5 mL and saturated NaHCO₃ 0.5 mL. After that, the reaction was stirred with saturated sodium potassium tartrate for (2 mL) 30 minutes. The reaction mixture was extracted with EtOAc three times (3x1 mL) and washed with distilled water and brine. The organic layers were dried with MgSO4 and concentrated. The crude was purified by silica gel chromatography using 0, 5, 10, 15, 20, 25 and 30% EtOAc/hex gradients to get a white solid 56 (47 mg, 0.048 mmol, 74%) with the ratio of $\alpha:\beta$ = 33:67 ($\alpha:\beta$ ratio was determined by ¹H NMR). ¹H NMR (400 MHz,) of **56**: δ 7.44–7.07 (m, 154H), 5.04–4.87 (m, 14H), 4.86–4.48 (m, 45H), 4.49–4.34 (m, 9H), 4.32 (d, J = 7.7 Hz, 3H), 4.15 (dd, J = 10.8, 1.8 Hz, 3H), 4.06 – 3.72 (m, 22H), 3.67–3.39 (m, 27H), 3.31 (s, 4H), 3.30 (s, 1H). Moreover, glycosyl acceptor was recovered as a colorless syrup with 7 mg. ¹H NMR spectra of **56** is consistent with previous report.³⁴



2.7.5 Methyl 2,3,4-tri-O-benzyl-6-O-(2,3,4,6-tetra-O-benzyl-D-glucopyranosyl)- α -D-glucopyranoside (54)

Glycosyl donor 39b (63 mg, 0.100 mmol), glycosyl acceptor 46 (31 mg, 0.067 mmol) and 3 Å MS in acetonitrile (0.1 M) were stirred at room temperature for 30 minutes. The reaction was treated with dried AgOTf (26 mg, 0.101 mmol) at room temperature. After that, the reaction was cooled slowly to −35 °C then treated with BDSB (55 mg, 0.100 mmol). The reaction was stirred at -35 °C for 1 hour and allowed to warm up to room temperature for overnight. At that point, the reaction was quenched with saturated Na₂S₂O₃ 0.5 mL and saturated NaHCO₃ 0.5 mL. After that, the reaction was stirred with saturated sodium potassium tartrate (2 mL) for 30 minutes. The reaction mixture was extracted with EtOAc three times (3x1 mL) and washed with distilled water and brine. The organic layers were dried with MgSO4 and concentrated. The crude was purified by silica gel chromatography using 0, 5, 10, 15, 20, 25 and 30% EtOAc/hex gradients to get a white solid 54 (43 mg, 0.044 mmol, 66%) with the ratio of α : β = 17:83 (α : β ratio was determined by ¹H NMR). ¹H NMR (400 MHz,) of 54: δ 7.39–7.08 (m, 96H), 5.03–4.87 (m, 9H), 4.85–4.39 (m, 32H), 4.35 (d, J = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 4.19 (dd, J = 10.7, 1.8 Hz, 2H), 4.05–3.93 (m, 3H), 3.88–3.39 (m, 28H), 3.35 (s, 1H), 3.33 (s, 5H). Moreover, glycosyl acceptor was recovered as a colorless syrup with 9 mg.



2.7.6 Methyl 2,3,4,6-tetra-O-benzyl-D-glucopyranoside (57)

Glycosyl donor **34a** (50 mg, 0.086 mmol), dried methanol (36 μ l, 0.890 mmol) and 3 Å MS in acetonitrile (0.1 M) were stirred at room temperature for 30 minutes. The reaction was treated with dried AgOTf (34 mg, 0.133 mmol) at room temperature. After that, the reaction was cooled slowly to -35 °C then treated with BDSB (73 mg, 0.133 mmol). The reaction was stirred at -35 °C for 1 hour and allowed to warm up to room temperature for overnight. At that point, the reaction was quenched with saturated Na₂S₂O₃ 0.5 mL and saturated NaHCO₃ 0.5 mL. After that, the reaction was stirred with saturated sodium potassium tartrate (3 mL) for 30 minutes. The reaction mixture was extracted with EtOAc three times (3x1 mL) and washed with distilled water and brine. The organic layers were dried with Na₂SO₄ and concentrated. The crude was purified by silica gel chromatography using 0, 5, 10, 15, 20, 25 and 30% EtOAc/hex gradients to get a colorless syrup of β product 57b (30) mg, 0.054 mmol, 63%) and α product **57a** (5 mg, 0.009 mmol, 10%). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) of **57a**: δ 7.31–7.02 (m, 20H), 4.90 (d, J = 10.9 Hz, 1H), 4.79–4.64 (m, 3H), 4.62–4.47 (m, 3H), 4.46–4.31 (m, 2H), 3.90 (t, J = 9.3 Hz, 1H), 3.64 (m, 2H), 3.59–3.51 (m, 2H), 3.48 (dd, J = 9.6, 3.5 Hz, 1H), 3.30 (s, 3H). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) of **57b**: δ 7.31–7.04 (m, 20H), 4.85 (dd, J = 10.9, 1.5 Hz, 2H), 4.73 (t, J = 11.3 Hz, 2H), 4.63 (d, J = 11.1 Hz, 1H), 4.58–4.41 (m, 3H), 4.24 (d, J = 7.8 Hz, 1H), 3.68 (dd, J = 10.7, 1.6 Hz, 1H), 3.63–3.52 (m, 3H), 3.50 (s, 3H), 3.43–3.31 (m, 2H). ¹H NMR spectra of **57a** and **57b** are consistent with previous report.³⁵



2.7.7 Benzyl 2,3,4,6-tetra-O-benzyl-D-glucopyranoside (58)

Glycosyl donor **34a** (170 mg, 0.291 mmol), benzyl alcohol (21 μ l, 0.202 mmol) and 3 Å MS in acetonitrile (0.1 M) were stirred at room temperature for 30 minutes. The reaction was treated with dried AgOTf (83 mg, 0.323 mmol) at room temperature. After that, the reaction was cooled slowly to -35 °C then treated with BDSB (169 mg, 0.308 mmol). The reaction was stirred at -35 °C for 1 hour and allowed to warm up to room temperature for overnight. At that point, the reaction was quenched with Et₃N and filtered through a pad of Celite. The crude was purified by silica gel chromatography using 0, 5, 10, 15, 20, 25 and 30% EtOAc/hex gradients. The product was obtained as a white solid **58** (88 mg, 0.140 mmol, 69%). ¹H NMR

(400 MHz, CDCl₃) of **58**: δ 7.36–7.00 (m), 4.97–4.80 (m), 4.80–4.34 (m), 3.78–3.30 (m). ¹H NMR spectra of **58** is consistent with previous report.³⁶



2.7.8 2,3,4,5-Di-O-isopropylidene-6-O-[2,3,4,6-tetra-O-benzyl-D-glucopyranosyl]- β -D-fructopyraoside (**59**)

Glycosyl donor 34a (100 mg, 0.171 mmol), 2,3,4,5-di-O-isopropylidene- β -Dfructopyranose (30 mg, 0.115 mmol) and 3 Å MS in acetonitrile (0.1 M) were stirred at room temperature for 30 minutes. The reaction was treated with dried AgOTf (44 mg, 0.171 mmol) at room temperature. After that, the reaction was cooled slowly to -35°C then treated with BDSB (96 mg, 0.175 mmol). The reaction was stirred at −35 °C for 1 hour and allowed to warm up to room temperature for overnight. At that point, the reaction was guenched with saturated Na₂S₂O₃ 0.5 mL and saturated NaHCO₃ 0.5 mL. After that, the reaction was stirred with saturated sodium potassium tartrate (3 mL) for 30 minutes. The reaction mixture was extracted with EtOAc three times (3x2 mL) and washed with distilled water and brine. The organic layers were dried with Na_2SO_4 and concentrated. The crude was purified by silica gel chromatography using 0, 5, 10, 15, 20, 25 and 30% EtOAc/hex gradients to get a white solid 59 (38 mg, 0.049 mmol, 43%). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) of **59**: δ 7.32–7.03 (m, 21H), 4.93 (d, J = 10.7Hz, 1H), 4.84 (d, J = 11.0 Hz, 1H), 4.81–4.64 (m, 3H), 4.64–4.34 (m, 7H), 4.15 (d, J = 7.8 Hz, 1H), 3.92-3.80 (m, 3H), 3.72-3.46 (m, 5H), 3.46-3.30 (m, 2H), 1.45 (s, 2H), 1.44 (s, 1H), 1.41 (s, 1H), 1.37 (s, 2H), 1.34 (s, 2H), 1.29 (s, 1H), 1.23 (s, 2H).



2.7.9 Isopropyl 2,3,4,6-tetra-O-benzyl-D-glucopyranoside (60)

Glycosyl donor **34a** (50 mg, 0.086 mmol), isopropanol (65 μ l, 0.850 mmol) and 3 Å MS in acetonitrile (0.1 M) were stirred at room temperature for 30 minutes. The reaction was treated with dried AgOTf (38 mg, 0.148 mmol) at room temperature. After that, the reaction was cooled slowly to −35 °C then treated with BDSB (76 mg, 0.138 mmol). The reaction was stirred at -35 °C for 1 hour and allowed to warm up to room temperature for overnight. At that point, the reaction was quenched with saturated Na₂S₂O₃ 0.5 mL and saturated NaHCO₃ 0.5 mL. After that, the reaction was stirred with saturated sodium potassium tartrate (3 mL) for 30 minutes. The reaction mixture was extracted with EtOAc three times (3x1 mL) and washed with distilled water and brine. The organic layers were dried with Na₂SO₄ and concentrated. The crude was purified by prep TLC using 40% Et₂O/hex as an eluent. The product **60** was obtained as a white solid (43 mg, 0.074 mmol, 86%).¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) of **60**: δ 7.34–7.01 (m, 20H), 4.96–4.78 (m, 2H), 4.78–4.66 (m, 2H), 4.66– 4.56 (m, 1H), 4.56–4.42 (m, 3H), 4.38 (t, J = 6.1 Hz, 1H), 4.01–3.88 (m, 1H), 3.86–3.72 (m, 1H), 3.66 (dd, J = 10.7, 1.4 Hz, 1H), 3.62–3.51 (m, 2H), 3.51–3.44 (m, 1H), 3.44–3.27 (m, 2H), 1.24 (d, J = 6.2 Hz, 3H), 1.16 (d, J = 6.2 Hz, 3H), 1.10 (d, J = 6.1 Hz, 1H). ¹H NMR spectra of 60 is consistent with previous report.³⁷



2.7.10 Cyclohexyl 2,3,4,6-tetra-O-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**61b**)

Glycosyl donor **34a** (56 mg, 0.096 mmol), dried cyclohexanol (50 μ l, 0.473 mmol) and 3 Å MS in acetonitrile (0.1 M) were stirred at room temperature for 30 minutes. The reaction was treated with dried AgOTf (44 mg, 0.171 mmol) at room temperature. After that, the reaction was cooled slowly to -35 °C then treated with BDSB (80 mg, 0.146 mmol). The reaction was stirred at -35 °C for 1 hour and allowed to warm up to room temperature for overnight. At that point, the reaction was quenched with saturated Na₂S₂O₃ 0.5 mL and saturated NaHCO₃ 0.5 mL. After that, the reaction was the reaction was stirred at -30 °C mL and saturated NaHCO₃ mL and saturated NaHCO₃ mL and saturated NaHCO₃ mL and saturated (3 mL) for 30

minutes. The reaction mixture was extracted with EtOAc three times (3x1 mL) and washed with distilled water and brine. The organic layers were dried with Na₂SO₄ and concentrated. The crude was purified by prep TLC using 10% EtOAc/hex as an eluent. The product **61b** was obtained as a white solid (34 mg, 0.055 mmol, 57%). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) of **61b**: δ 7.33–7.04 (m, 20H), 4.92 (d, *J* = 10.9 Hz, 1H), 4.84 (d, *J* = 11.0 Hz, 1H), 4.74 (d, *J* = 10.9 Hz, 1H), 4.70 (d, *J* = 11.0 Hz, 1H), 4.63 (d, *J* = 10.9 Hz, 1H), 4.57–4.40 (m, 4H), 3.70–3.52 (m, 4H), 3.47 (t, *J* = 9.2 Hz, 1H), 3.43–3.32 (m, 2H), 1.90 (dd, *J* = 30.6, 11.7 Hz, 2H), 1.67 (d, *J* = 4.1 Hz, 1H), 1.50–1.30 (m, 3H), 1.29–1.11 (m, 4H). ¹H NMR spectra of **61b** is consistent with previous report.³⁸



2.7.11 (1*R*,2*S*,5*R*)-5-Methyl-2-(1-methylethyl)cyclohexyl 2,3,4,6-tetra-*O*-benzyl-D-glucopyranoside (**62**)

Glycosyl donor **34a** (181 mg, 0.310 mmol), L-menthol (36 mg, 0.230 mmol) and 3 Å MS in acetonitrile (0.1 M) were stirred at room temperature for 30 minutes. The reaction was treated with dried AgOTf (77 mg, 0.230 mmol) at room temperature. After that, the reaction was cooled slowly to -35 °C then treated with BDSB (159 mg, 0.230 mmol). The reaction was stirred at -35 °C for 1 hour and allowed to warm up to room temperature for overnight. At that point, the reaction was quenched with saturated Na₂S₂O₃ 0.5 mL and saturated NaHCO₃ 0.5 mL. After that, the reaction mixture was extracted with EtOAc three times (3x2 mL) and washed with distilled water and brine. The organic layers were dried with Na₂SO₄ and concentrated. The crude was purified by silica gel chromatography using 0, 10, 20, 30 and 40% EtOAc/hex gradients. The α product **62a** (11 mg, 0.016 mmol, 7%) and β product **62b** (66 mg, 0.097 mmol, 42%) were obtained as a white solid. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) of **62a**: δ 7.26–7.17 (m, 18H), 7.09–7.02 (m, 2H), 4.95 (d, *J* = 3.6 Hz, 1H), 4.90 (d, *J* = 10.9 Hz, 1H), 4.79–4.71 (m, 2H), 4.67–4.53 (m, 3H), 4.40 (d, *J* = 4.9 Hz, 1H),

4.37 (d, J = 3.5 Hz, 1H), 3.98–3.86 (m, 2H), 3.68 (dd, J = 10.5, 3.7 Hz, 1H), 3.60–3.52 (m, 2H), 3.47 (dd, J = 9.7, 3.6 Hz, 1H), 3.28 (td, J = 10.6, 4.3 Hz, 1H), 2.42–2.26 (m, 1H), 2.11–1.99 (m, 1H), 1.59–1.48 (m, 4H), 1.24–1.13 (m, 8H), 1.02–0.70 (m, 11H), 0.63 (d, J = 6.9 Hz, 3H). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) of **62b**: δ 7.32–7.02 (m, 20H), 4.86 (t, J = 10.8 Hz, 2H), 4.72 (t, J = 11.0 Hz, 2H), 4.61 (d, J = 10.9 Hz, 1H), 4.56–4.43 (m, 3H), 4.40 (d, J = 7.8 Hz, 1H), 3.61 (d, J = 3.0 Hz, 2H), 3.59–3.49 (m, 2H), 3.42 (td, J = 10.6, 4.1 Hz, 1H), 3.33 (dd, J = 11.0, 5.0 Hz, 2H), 2.35–2.22 (m, 1H), 2.06 (d, J = 12.2 Hz, 1H), 1.58 (d, J = 11.6 Hz, 2H), 1.33–1.13 (m, 5H), 0.98–0.79 (m, 9H), 0.75 (d, J = 6.9 Hz, 4H). ¹H NMR spectra of **62a** and **62b** are consistent with previous report.³⁹



2.7.12 Methyl 2-O-benzyl-3-O-(2,3,4,6-tetra-O-benzyl-D-glucopyranosyl)-4,6-O-benzylidene- α -D-glucopyranoside (63)

Glycosyl donor 34a (121 mg, 0.207 mmol), methyl 2-O-benzyl-4,6-Obenzylidene- α -D-glucopyranoside 49 (53 mg, 0.143 mmol) and 3 Å MS in acetonitrile (0.1 M) were stirred at room temperature for 30 minutes. The reaction was treated with dried AgOTf (60 mg, 0.233 mmol) at room temperature. After that, the reaction was cooled slowly to -35 °C then treated with BDSB (155 mg, 0.282 mmol). The reaction was stirred at -35 °C for 1 hour and allowed to warm up to room temperature for overnight. At that point, the reaction was quenched with saturated Na₂S₂O₃ 0.5 mL and saturated NaHCO₃ 0.5 mL. After that, the reaction was stirred with saturated sodium potassium tartrate (3 mL) for 30 minutes. The reaction mixture was extracted with EtOAc three times (3x2 mL) and washed with distilled water and brine. The organic layers were dried with MgSO₄ and concentrated. The crude was purified by silica gel chromatography using 0, 5, 10, 15, 20, 25 and 30% EtOAc/hex gradients. The product was obtained as a white solid of β anomer **63b** (15 mg, 0.017) mmol, 12%) and mixture of α and β anomer **63** (10 mg, 0.011 mmol, 8%). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) of **63b**: δ 7.45–7.38 (m, 2H), 7.39–7.33 (m, 2H), 7.32–7.16 (m, 26H), 7.17–7.11 (m, 2H), 5.47 (s, 1H), 5.06 (d, J = 11.2 Hz, 1H), 4.90 (t, J = 9.0 Hz, 2H), 4.83– 4.68 (m, 4H), 4.56–4.41 (m, 5H), 4.36 (t, J = 9.1 Hz, 1H), 4.21 (dd, J = 10.0, 4.6 Hz, 1H), 3.82 (td, J = 9.9, 4.6 Hz, 1H), 3.76–3.52 (m, 7H), 3.49 (t, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 3.35 (s, 3H), 3.24 (d, J = 9.1 Hz, 1H). ¹H NMR spectra of **63b** is consistent with previous report.¹³



2.7.13 Adamantyl 2,3,4,6-tetra-O-benzyl-D-glucopyranoside (64)

Glycosyl donor 34a (162 mg, 0.277 mmol), 1-adamantanol (30 mg, 0.197 mmol) and 3 Å MS in acetonitrile (0.1 M) were stirred at room temperature for 30 minutes. The reaction was treated with dried AgOTf (79 mg, 0.307 mmol) at room temperature. After that, the reaction was cooled slowly to −35 °C then treated with BDSB (190 mg, 0.346 mmol). The reaction was stirred at -35 °C for 1 hour and allowed to warm up to room temperature for overnight. At that point, the reaction was quenched with saturated Na₂S₂O₃ 0.5 mL and saturated NaHCO₃ 0.5 mL. After that, the reaction was stirred with saturated sodium potassium tartrate (3 mL) for 30 minutes. The reaction mixture was extracted with EtOAc three times (3x2 mL) and washed with distilled water and brine. The organic layers were dried with MgSO₄ and concentrated. The crude was purified by silica gel chromatography using 0, 5, 10, 15, 20, 25 and 30% EtOAc/hex gradients to get a white solid 64 (46 mg, 0.068 mmol, 35%). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) of **64**: δ 7.33–7.02 (m, 254H), 5.21 (d, J = 3.6 Hz, 4H), 4.92 (t, J = 9.5 Hz, 12H), 4.84 (d, J = 10.9 Hz, 9H), 4.79–4.43 (m, 81H), 4.38 (dd, J = 11.3, 6.9 Hz, 9H), 3.98-3.89 (m, 8H), 3.72-3.61 (m, 14H), 3.61-3.50 (m, 3H), 3.49-3.30 (m, 29H), 2.13–2.01 (m, 36H), 1.90–1.83 (m, 2H), 1.82–1.67 (m, 49H), 1.55 (s, 76H). ¹H NMR spectra of **64** is consistent with previous report.⁴⁰



2.7.14 Cholesteryl 2,3,4,6-tetra-O-benzyl-D-glucopyranoside (65)

Glycosyl donor **34a** (91 mg, 0.156 mmol), dried cholesterol (40 mg, 0.104 mmol) and 3 Å MS in a mixture of 1:1 acetonitrile:CH₂Cl₂ (0.05 M) were stirred at room temperature for 30 minutes. The reaction was treated with dried AgOTf (43 mg, 0.167 mmol) at room temperature. After that, the reaction was cooled slowly to -35 °C then treated with BDSB (87 mg, 0.159 mmol). The reaction was stirred at -35 °C for 1 hour and allowed to warm up to room temperature for overnight. At that point,reaction progress monitored by TLC found that several undesirable compounds were occurred.Reaction mixture was quenched with saturated Na₂S₂O₃ 0.5 mL and saturated NaHCO₃ 0.5 mL. The reaction mixture was extracted with EtOAc three times (3x1 mL) and washed with distilled water and brine. The organic layers were dried with Na₂SO₄ and concentrated. NMR analysis of reaction mixture showed complex mixture.



2.7.15 Methyl 2,3,6-tri-O-benzyl-4-O-(2,3,4,6-tetra-O-benzyl-D-glucopyranosyl)- α -D-glucopyranoside (**66**)

Glycosyl donor **34b** (53 mg, 0.091 mmol), glycosyl acceptor **50** (28 mg, 0.060 mmol) and 3 Å MS in acetonitrile (0.1 M) were stirred at room temperature for 30 minutes. The reaction was treated with dried AgOTf (24 mg, 0.093 mmol) at room temperature. After that, the reaction was cooled slowly to -35 °C then treated with BDSB (50 mg, 0.091 mmol). The reaction was stirred at -35 °C for 1 hour and allowed to warm up to room temperature for overnight. At that point, the reaction was quenched with saturated Na₂S₂O₃ 0.5 mL and saturated NaHCO₃ 0.5 mL. After that, the reaction was stirred with EtOAc three times (3x1 mL) and washed with distilled water and brine. The organic layers were dried with MgSO₄ and concentrated. The crude was purified by silica gel chromatography using 0, 5, 10, 15, 20, 25 and 30% EtOAc/hex gradients to get a colorless syrup **66** (26 mg, 0.026 mmol,

43%). Moreover, glycosyl acceptor was recovered as a colorless syrup with 13 mg. ¹H NMR spectra of **66** is consistent with previous report.⁴¹



2.7.16 Methyl 2,3,4-tri-O-benzoyl-6-O-(2,3,4,6-tetra-O-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranosyl)- α -D-glucopyranoside (**67b**)

Glycosyl donor 34b (52 mg, 0.089 mmol), glycosyl acceptor 53 (30 mg, 0.059 mmol) and 3 Å MS in acetonitrile (0.1 M) were stirred at room temperature for 30 minutes. The reaction was treated with dried AgOTf (23 mg, 0.090 mmol) at room temperature. After that, the reaction was cooled slowly to -35 °C then treated with BDSB (49 mg, 0.089 mmol). The reaction was stirred at -35 °C for 1 hour and allowed to warm up to room temperature for overnight. At that point, the reaction was quenched with saturated Na₂S₂O₃ 0.5 mL and saturated NaHCO₃ 0.5 mL. After that, the reaction was stirred with saturated sodium potassium tartrate (2 mL) for 30 minutes. The reaction mixture was extracted with EtOAc three times (3x1 mL) and washed with distilled water and brine. The organic layers were dried with MgSO4 and concentrated. The crude was purified by silica gel chromatography using 0, 5, 10, 15, 20, 25 and 30% EtOAc/hex gradients to get a colorless syrup 67b (40 mg, 0.039 mmol, 66%). Moreover, glycosyl acceptor was recovered as a white solid with 6 mg. ¹H NMR (400 MHz,) of **67b**: δ 7.98 (dd, J = 8.4, 1.3 Hz, 2H), 7.94 (dd, J = 8.4, 1.3 Hz, 2H), 7.85 (dd, J = 8.4, 1.3 Hz, 2H), 7.54–7.46 (m, 2H), 7.45–7.23 (m, 31H), 7.19–7.09 (m, 2H), 6.18 (t, J = 9.8 Hz, 1H), 5.49 (t, J = 10.2 Hz, 1H), 5.26 (dd, J = 10.1, 3.6 Hz, 1H), 5.22 (d, J = 3.7 Hz, 1H), 5.07 (d, J = 10.8 Hz, 1H), 4.92 (d, J = 10.9 Hz, 1H), 4.84-4.74 (m, 2H), 4.69 (d, J = 10.8 Hz, 1H), 4.49 (ddd, J = 26.2, 15.3, 9.7 Hz, 4H), 4.39 (ddd, J = 9.9, 6.1, 2.0 Hz, 1H), 4.13 (dd, J = 11.0, 2.1 Hz, 1H), 3.82 (dd, J = 11.0, 7.5 Hz, 1H), 3.69–3.56 (m, 4H), 3.50–3.40 (m, 2H), 3.38 (s, 3H). ¹H NMR spectra of **67b** is consistent with previous report.42

2.8 Glycosyl intermediate study

2.8.1 Glycosyl intermediate study of ethyl thioglycoside $\bf 34b$ activated with BDSB in $\rm CH_2\rm Cl_2$



Glycosyl donor **34b** (65 mg, 0.111 mmol) and 3 Å MS in CH_2Cl_2 (0.1 M) were stirred at room temperature for 30 minutes. After that, the reaction was cooled slowly to -35 °C then treated with BDSB (91 mg, 0.166 mmol). The reaction was stirred at -35 °C for 30 minutes. At that point, the reaction was quenched with saturated $Na_2S_2O_3$ 0.5 mL and saturated $NaHCO_3$ 0.5 mL. The reaction mixture was extracted with CH_2Cl_2 three times. The organic layers were dried with MgSO₄ and concentrated. The crude was purified by silica gel chromatography using 0, 10, and 20% EtOAc/hex gradients to get a colorless syrup **68**. Moreover, hydrolysis by product **69** was observed as a white solid. ¹H NMR spectra of **68** and **69** are consistent with previous report.⁴³⁻⁴⁴

2.8.2 Glycosyl intermediate study of octadecyl thioglycoside **36b** activated with BDSB in CH₂Cl₂ **CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY**



Glycosyl donor **36b** (56 mg, 0.069 mmol) and 3 Å MS in CH_2Cl_2 (0.1 M) were stirred at room temperature for 30 minutes. After that, the reaction was cooled slowly to -35 °C then treated with BDSB (57 mg, 0.104 mmol). The reaction was stirred at -35 °C for 30 minutes. At that point, the reaction was quenched with saturated Na₂S₂O₃ 0.5 mL 0.5 mL and saturated NaHCO₃ 0.5 mL. The reaction mixture was extracted with CH_2Cl_2 three times (3x1 mL). The organic layers were dried with MgSO₄ and concentrated. The crude was purified by silica gel chromatography using 0, 10, and 20% EtOAc/hex gradients to get a colorless syrup **68**. Moreover, hydrolysis by product **69** was observed as a white solid. ¹H NMR spectra of **68** and **69** are consistent with previous report.

2.8.3 Glycosyl intermediate study of octadecyl thioglycoside **36b** activated with BDSB in acetonitrile



Glycosyl donor **36b** (50 mg, 0.062 mmol) and 3 Å MS in acetonitrile (0.1 M) were stirred at room temperature for 30 minutes. After that, the reaction was cooled slowly to -35 °C then treated with BDSB (51 mg, 0.093 mmol). The reaction was stirred at -35 °C for 30 minutes. At that point, the reaction was monitored by TLC, several intermediate were observed on TLC. The reaction was quenched with saturated Na₂S₂O₃ 0.5 mL and saturated NaHCO₃ 0.5 mL. The reaction mixture was extracted with EtOAc three times (3x1 mL). The organic layers were dried with MgSO₄ and concentrated. The crude was purified by silica gel chromatography using 0, 10, and 20% EtOAc/hex gradients. After purification, the intermediate was not observed due to decomposition. Moreover, hydrolysis by-product **69** was isolated as a white solid.

2.8.4 NMR monitoring of glycosylation of thioglycoside activated by BDSB/AgOTf



(A) Glycosyl donor **34b** (46 mg, 0.079 mmol) was azeotroped with toluene and acetonitrile prior use. 3 Å MS and acetonitrile-d3 (CD₃CN, 0.1 M) were added and stirred at room temperature for 30 minutes. After that, the mixture was cooled to – 35 °C and then BDSB (69 mg, 0.126 mmol) was added. The reaction was stirred at –35 °C for 30 minutes. The reaction was transferred into NMR tube by using gastight syringe. The reaction was monitored at room temperature by NMR.

(**B**) The solution of AgOTf (32 mg, 0.124 mmol) in CD_3CN was added into reaction in the NMR tube. The reaction was monitored by NMR.

(C) Methanol-d4 (CD₃OD, 0.5 mL) was chosen as nucleophile and added into the reaction mixture at room temperature for 10 minutes. The reaction was monitored by NMR. At this point, the reaction was not complete. So, the reaction was stranded at room temperature for overnight and then monitored by NMR.

(D) Reaction was quenched with saturated $Na_2S_2O_3$ 0.5 mL and saturated $NaHCO_3$ 0.5 mL. The reaction mixture was extracted with EtOAc three times (3 x1 mL). The organic layers were dried over Na_2SO_4 and concentrated to obtain the crude product as a yellow syrup. The crude was determined by NMR.

CHAPTER III

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.1 Synthesis of glycosyl donors and glycosyl acceptors

In this work, different glycosyl donors such as armed (**34a**, **34b**, **36a**, **36b**, **38a**, and **39b**) and disarmed (**33b**) donor were synthesized by using modified procedure from previous literature (Figure 3.1).⁴⁵⁻⁴⁷



Figure 3.1 Glycosyl donors for glycosylation in this study.

Disarmed donor **33b** and armed donors **34a**, **34b**, **38a**, and **39b** were synthesized *via* two and three step reactions, respectively. First, the anomeric position of β -D-glucose pentaacetate was displaced with thiol and acetyl protecting groups were deprotected by catalytic K₂CO₃ in methanol. Finally, the protecting group manipulations on donors were performed *via* benzylation to provide the desired thioglycosides (Figure 3.2). Moreover, thioglycosides **36a** and **36b** were synthesized *via* deprotection by K₂CO₃ in methanol and then benzylation by phase transfer catalyzed with TBAHS, 50% NaOH, BnBr in dichloromethane.



(a) RSH, BF₃Et₂O, CH₂Cl₂, 0 °C to rt. (b) K₂CO₃, CH₃OH, rt. (c) BnBr, TBAI, NaH, DMF, 0 °C to rt. (d) 50% NaOH, TBAHS, BnBr, CH₂Cl₂, rt. (e) BnBr, TBAI, NaH, DMF, THF, 0 °C to rt.

Figure 3.2 Synthesis of glycosyl donors.

Glycosyl acceptor **46**, **49**, **50**, and **53** were prepared by using modified procedure of previous reports.⁴⁸⁻⁴⁹ Commercially available methyl α -D-glucopyranoside was used as precursor to provide the desired glycosyl acceptors (Figure 3.3). Primary alcohols **46** and **53** were synthesized in three steps. First, hyldroxy group at C6 of methyl α -D-glucopyranoside was tritylated by using TrCl in pyridine to generate **51**. Next, benzoylation of **51** was performed by treating with BzCl. Finally, trityl group of **52** was deprotected under acidic condition of acetic acid in THF to obtain **46** in 50% yield. Besides, **51** was benzylated by using BnBr, TBAI and NaH in DMF and then detritylated with FeCl₃ in dichloromethane, the acceptor **53** was obtained in 33% yield.



(a) TrCl, DMAP, pyridine, rt. (b) BzCl, pyridine, rt. (c) FeCl₃, CH₂Cl₂, rt. (d) BnBr, TBAI, NaH, DMF 0 °C to rt. (e) CH₃COOH, THF, 3M H₂SO₄, 80 °C to rt. (f) 4 mol% CSA, α , α -dimethoxytoluene, CH₃CN, 100 °C. (g) 1 eq. BnBr, TBAI, NaH, DMF, 0 °C to rt. (h) NaBH₃CN, I₂, CH₂Cl₂, 0 °C to rt.

Figure 3.3 Glycosyl acceptors for glycosylation in this study.

Secondary alcohols **49** and **50** were synthesized. The hydroxy group at C4 and C6 of methyl α -D-glucopyranoside were treated with α,α -dimethoxytoluene and 4 mol% of CSA in acetonitrile to generate **47** in 62% yield. Next, compound **47** was benzylated by using 1.0 equivalent of BnBr, TBAI and NaH in DMF to obtain products **48** and **49** in 56% and 5% yields, respectively. Finally, reductive ring opening at benzylidene acetal protecting group of **48** was performed by using NaBH₃CN, I₂ in dichloromethane to obtain glycosyl acceptor **50** in 48% yield.

3.2 Preliminary screening of glycosyl donor for glycosylation

Preliminary study of glycosylation by using BDSB in combination with AgOTf as an activator was investigated (Table 2.1). Three different armed glycosyl donors (**34a**, **36b**, and **39b**) and glycosyl acceptor **46** were performed in CH₂Cl₂ at 0 °C to room temperature. These glycosyl donors were selected for preliminary screening based on their reactivities towards thiophilic activators. Order of reactivity from the highest to the lowest was ethyl thioglycosides **34a**, octadecyl thioglycosides **36b**, and phenyl thioglycosides **39b**, respectively. Firstly, glycosylation of ethyl thioglycosides **34a** was completed within 35 minutes to obtain disaccharide **54** in 56% yield with moderate selectivity (α : β = 40:60). Secondly, glycosylation of octadecyl thioglycosides **36b**, a long chain aliphatic glycosyl donor, was performed and finished in 1 hour to obtain disaccharide **54** in 45% yield with moderate selectivity (α : β = 50:50). Lastly, glycosylation of aromatic glycosyl donor, phenyl thioglycosides **39b**, was carried out for overnight to obtain disaccharide **54** in 32% yield with moderate selectivity (α : β = 50:50).

 Table 3.1 Preliminary screening of glycosyl donors for BDSB/AgOTf-mediated

 glycosylation.

BnO BnO Glycos	OBn SR + BnO BnO syl donor		BDSB/AgOTf CH ₂ Cl ₂ , 3A MS	Bno Bno Bno Bno Bno Bno Bno	BnO BnO BnO BnO BnO BnO OMe
Entry	Donor		Temperature	Time	Yield (α:β) ^{a,b}
1	BnO BnO 34a	Et	0 °C to rt	35 min	56% (40:60)
2	BnO BnO BnO BnO BnO BnO	-S-++CH ₃	0 °C to rt	1h	45% (50:50)
3	BnO BnO 39b	-SPh	0 °C to rt	o/n	32% (50:50)

^[a] α : β ratio determined by ¹H NMR integration

^[b] donor (1.0 equiv.), acceptor (1.5-2.0 equiv.), AgOTf (1.5-1.6 equiv.), BDSB (1.5-1.9 equiv.)

Gratifyingly, these preliminary results indicated that combination of BDSB/AgOTf was capable of activating wide range of thioglycoside donors. Low α : β selectivity would probably come from the absence of neighboring participation at C2 on glycosyl donor which was frequently observed in chemical glycosylation. Ethyl thioglycoside **34a** was then selected as a glycosyl donor of choice for further glycosylation study due to its highest reactivity compared with donor **36b** and **39b**.

3.3 Investigation for optimal conditions for glycosylation

To investigate the optimal conditions for glycosylation of thioglycosides. Ethyl thioglycoside **34a** and glycosyl acceptor **36** were selected as a model. Glycosylation were performed at low temperature under several conditions. Firstly, we studied the efficiency of BDSB for activation of thioglycosides in CH₂Cl₂ and CH₃CN as solvent. The results showed that the glycosylation in CH₂Cl₂ provided the desired disaccharide **54** in 64% yield with moderate selectivity (α : β = 55:45) (Table 3.2, entry 1). When CH₃CN was used, the disaccharide **54** was obtained in 41% yield with good β selectivity (α : β = 17:83) (entry 2). However, both glycosylations (entries 1–2) took overnight to reach completion. BDSB (1.1 equiv.) in combination with AgOTf (1.1 equiv.) were used in CH₂Cl₂, yield of **54** was obtained in 56% with moderate selectivity (α : β = 40:60) (entry 3). The reaction time was significantly faster, it completed within 35 minutes. Finally, using CH₃CN as solvent and BDSB/AgOTf combination increased yield of **54** up to 79% yield with high β selectivity (entry 4).

BnO BnO SEt + BnO BnO OMe Solvent BnO BnO BnO BnO BnO OMe Solvent BnO BnO BnO OMe Solvent BnO						
Entry	Activator	Solvent (0.1 M)	Temperature	Time	Yield (α:β)	
1	BDSB	CH ₂ Cl ₂	0 °C to rt	o/n	64% (55:45)	
2	BDSB	CH ₃ CN	−35 °C to rt	o/n	41% (17:83)	
3	BDSB/AgOTf	CH ₂ Cl ₂	0 °C to rt	35 min	56% (40:60)	
4	BDSB/AgOTf	CH ₃ CN	−35 °C to rt	3 h	79% (β only)	
5	BDSB/AgOTf	CH ₃ NO ₂	–20 °C to rt	o/n	76% (37:63)	
6	BDSB/AgOTf	DMF	−35 °C to rt	o/n	trace	

 Table 3.2 Optimization conditions of glycosylation with BDSB as activator.

Next, we focused to examine other polar solvents as media for glycosylation such as CH_3NO_2 , and DMF. Using CH_3NO_2 (entry 5), the disaccharide **54** was obtained in good yield (76%) but the β selectivity (α : β = 37:63) was diminished compared to CH_3CN . On the contrary, glycosylation with DMF as solvent proceeded slowly and only small amount of product was detected (entry 6). TLC monitoring of glycosylation in DMF observed the stable unknown intermediate (Figure 3.4).



Figure 3.4 TLC monitoring of glycosylation between 34a and 46 in DMF as solvent.

After several optimizations, we found that the glycosylation of **34a** and **46** proceeded smoothly and most productive with a combination of BDSB/AgOTf in acetonitrile at -35 °C and allowed to warm up to room temperature under argon atmosphere.

3.4 Study the effect of solvents for glycosylation with BDSB/AgOTf

Solvent effect on yield and selectivity of glycosylation was investigated under low temperature. Ethyl thioglycoside **34b** and glycosyl acceptor **46** were performed in different solvents such as CH₃CN, CH₂Cl₂, Et₂O, and toluene. The result showed that β thioglycoside **34b** was smoothly performed in acetonitrile at -35 °C to room temperature. The disaccharide **54** was obtained in high yield and high β selectivity (85% yield, β only) (Table 3.3, entry 1). This result was in accordance with using thioglycoside **34a** in acetonitrile. Thus this allowed us to conclude that the efficiency of glycosylation was independence on the anomeric linkage of donor.

	Lana Lan	Ĭ			
Table 3.3 Solvents effect	of glycosyla	tion	with BC	SB/AgOT	٢f.
4	Ø 11168	6 A			

	BnO BnO BnO BnO BnO BnO BnO BnO BnO BnO	t + BnO BnO BnO BnO 46	3Å MS BDSB/AgOTf BnO∽ OMe Solvent	DBn O BnO _{BnO} 54 BnO	Lo BnO OMe
Entry	Activator	Solvent	Temperature	Time	Yield (α:β)
1	BDSB/AgOTf	CH ₃ CN	–35 ℃ to rt	o/n	85% (β only)
2	BDSB/AgOTf	CH ₂ Cl ₂	−35 °C to rt	o/n	68% (48:52)
3	BDSB/AgOTf 🧃	Et ₂ O	–35 °C to rt	o/n	66% (55:45)
4	BDSB/AgOTf	toluene	-35 °C to rt RST	2d	33% (63:37)

Next, using CH₂Cl₂ and Et₂O as solvent, the disaccharide **54** was obtained in moderate yield (68% and 66% yield, respectively). When Et₂O was used, the α selectivity of **54** was higher compared to CH₂Cl₂ as solvent (entries 2 and 3). Moreover, using toluene as solvent, increasing of the α selectivity was observed (α : β = 63:37). However, glycosylation of thioglycoside **34b** in toluene was sluggish and obtained **54** in low yield (33%) (entry 4). Thus, glycosylation of thioglycoside activated with BDSB/AgOTf in Et₂O is good conditions to increase the α selectivity for this work.

3.5 Scope of glycosyl donors

To study the glycosyl donor effect, disarmed (33b) and armed (34a, 34b, 36a, 36b, 38a, and 39b) thioglycosides were used as donor under the optimal conditions (BDSB/AgOTf in acetonitrile at -35 °C to room temperature). Firstly, glycosylation between disarmed glycosyl donor **33b** and glycosyl acceptor **46** was performed. The result showed that the disarmed donor 33b was consumed but acceptor 46 was remained and unidentified compounds were detected by TLC (Table 3.4, entry 1). Next, armed glycosyl donors were investigated. Ethyl thioglycosides 34b and 34a were used as donor, glycosylation was performed smoothly to generate disaccharide 54b in high yield with β selectivity (85% and 79% yield, respectively) (entries 2 and 3). When using phenyl thioglycoside 39b as donor, glycosylation was slower compared to using ethyl thioglycosides (34b and 34a) and provided the disaccharide 54 with moderate yield and selectivity (65% yield, α : β = 17:83) (entry 4). Moreover, the bulky aliphatic thioglycosides 36b, 36a, and 38a were studied. Effect of moisture in chemical glycosylation was conspicuous when carrying the reaction without azeotropic distillation of all precursors. The result showed that using 36b as donor, disaccharide 54 was obtained in low yield (26%) because the glycosylation was performed without the azeotropic step (entry 5). Besides, glycosylation by using 36a and 38a were undergone smoothly to generate disaccharides 54 and 55 in good yield (65% and 74% yield, respectively). The good β selectivity of disaccharides 54 $(\alpha:\beta = 12:88)$ and 55 $(\alpha:\beta = 33:66)$ were observed (entries 6 and 7). To conclude, armed thioglycosides with short chain alkyl leaving group were activated with BDSB/AgOTf to provide disaccharides in good to high yields and good β selectivity.



Table 3.4 Investigation the scope of glycosyl donors for glycosylation.

 $^{[a]}\alpha {:}\beta$ selectivity of disaccharides were determined by 1H NMR

3.6 Scope of acceptors

The acceptor scope of the glycosylation was further investigated using several alcohols (Table 3.5). Firstly, glycosylation between a thioglycoside **34a** and glycosyl acceptor **46** was activated with BDSB/AgOTf to obtain **54b** in 79% yield and high β selectivity. Next, several primary alcohols were investigated as acceptors. Primary alcohols such as methanol, benzyl alcohol, and alcohol **40** were performed smoothly and obtained products in good to high yields (43–73%) with good β selectivities (Table 3.5, entries 2–4). When methanol was used, products were obtained in 73% yield with β anomer as major (α product **57a** = 10% and β product **57b** = 63%) (entry 2).

Secondary alcohol such as isopropanol, cyclohexanol, and L-menthol were proceeded to obtain products in moderate to high yield. When isopropanol was used, the product **60** was obtain in 86% yield (entry 5). Using cyclohexanol, only the β product of **61b** was isolated in 57% yield (entry 6). Glycosylation with L-menthol as an acceptor, the products were obtained in 49% yield with β anomer as major product (α product **62a** = 7% and β product **62b** = 42%) (entry 7). Moreover, using glycosyl acceptor **41**, the disaccharide **63** was obtained in low yield (20%) (entry 8). Analysis of by-products revealed that electrophilic bromonium oxidation to benzylidene acetal proton of acceptor **41** was occurred. Using 1-adamantanol as tertiary alcohol, the glycosylation was performed slowly and obtained low yield of product **64** in 35% yield (entry 9). Glycosylation with cholesterol as acceptor, donor and acceptors were consumed but no desired product was generated. Several unidentified by-products were observed probably due to a bromination of olefinic group on cholesterol during the reaction (Figure 3.5).



Figure 3.5 TLC analysis of glycosylation between 34a and cholesterol.


 Table 3.5 Investigation the scope of acceptors for glycosylation.

^[a] Thioglycoside **34a** as donor ^[b] Thioglycoside **34b** as donor ^[c] Unable to determine $\alpha:\beta$ ratio

Moreover, disarmed glycosyl acceptor **53** and secondary glycosyl acceptor **50** were tested for glycosylation with ethyl thioglycoside **34b**. The results showed that glycosylations were proceeded to generate disaccharides **66b** and **67** in moderate yield (66% and 43%, respectively) (entries 11 and 12). When using disarmed glycosyl acceptor **53**, only β anomer was isolated (entry 11).

3.7 Glycosyl intermediate study

To study glycosyl intermediate in glycosylation, thioglycosides were activated with BDSB in the absence of acceptor. Firstly, glycosyl donor **34b** was treated with BDSB in CH_2Cl_2 at -35 °C for 30 minutes. After reaction was completed, glycosyl intermediate **68** was observed on TLC (Figure 3.5a). The reaction was quenched with NaHCO₃ and Na₂S₂O₃, extracted with ethyl acetate, and then purified by column chromatography. Glycosyl intermediate **68** was obtained as a colorless syrup and characterized by ¹H NMR (Figure 3.6a). Next, glycosyl donor **36b** was also studied by activating with BDSB in CH_2Cl_2 at -35 °C for 30 minutes, to provide glycosyl intermediate **68** as a colorless syrup (Figure 3.5b). Moreover, the hydrolysis by-product **69** was also collected as minor product (white solid) and characterized by ¹H NMR.



Figure 3.6 Glycosyl intermediate 68 was monitored by TLC.

The ¹H NMR analysis of glycosyl intermediate **68** showed chemical shift of anomeric proton at 6.02 ppm. Moreover, the *J*-coupling constants of the anomeric proton showed (J = 3.6 Hz and 3.8 Hz) that only α anomer was observed (Figure 3.6a and 3.6b).



From the results, we proposed that the chloride ion of BDSB added to the anomeric position of oxocarbenium intermediate (II). This glycosyl chloride **68** is an important intermediate in this glycosylation with BDSB. So, the mechanistic study of this glycosyl intermediate will be monitored by NMR in further detail.





The mechanistic study of glycosylation of thioglycosides activated with BDSB/AgOTf was studied by using ¹H NMR spectroscopy (Figures 3.8 and 3.9). Firstly, thioglycoside **34a** was activated with BDSB in CD₃CN at -35 °C for 30 minutes (Figure 3.8b). Then, the reaction was monitored by NMR at room temperature. At this point, the two peaks of anomeric proton were detected at downfield position (6.75 and 6.38 ppm). The downfield peak at 6.75 ppm could be anomeric proton peak of glycosyl chloride intermediate **68**. Next, AgOTf in CD₃CN was added into the reaction and leaved it at room temperature for 5 minutes (Figure 3.8c). After monitoring the reaction, the peak at 6.75 ppm was disappeared. Since, the glycosyl chloride **68** might be activated by AgOTf.



Figure 3.8 ¹H NMR monitoring of glycosylation of thioglycoside **34a** activated with BDSB/AgOTf (400 MHz, CD₃CN). (a) ¹H NMR spectrum of thioglycoside **34a**. (b) Thioglycoside **34a** activated by BDSB. (c) When AgOTf was added into the reaction.

Then, CD₃OD was added into the reaction mixture at room temperature for 10 minutes (Figure 3.9d). From the ¹H NMR result, only a small peak of β product was observed at 4.35 ppm. So, the reaction mixture was leaved for overnight to complete reaction (Figure 3.9e). Finally, the crude mixture of α and β product was identified by NMR (Figure 3.9f).





According to the NMR monitoring of glycosylation, we proposed the possible glycosylation mechanism for this study (Figure 3.10). Firstly, thioglycoside (I) was activated by BDSB to generate oxocarbenium cation (III). Then, chloride ion of BDSB attacked the anomeric position of intermediate (III) to generate glycosyl chloride (IV) with α selectivity. When AgOTf was added and it was going to activate glycosyl chloride (IV). This step, the white precipitate of silver chloride (AgCl) was occurred.

For glycosylation in acetonitrile, acetonitrile would attack the oxocarbenium cation to generate a stable intermediate (V). The glycosylation *via* intermediate (V) to generate β product as a major.



Figure 3.10 Proposed mechanism of glycosylation of thioglycosides activated with



CHAPTER IV

1. The glycosylation of ethyl thioglycoside and glycosyl acceptor activated by BDSB provided the disaccharide **54** in moderate yield. However, using BDSB in combination with AgOTf in acetonitrile at low temperature produced disaccharide **54** in high yield and β selectivity. The α selectivity was increased when using Et₂O and toluene as solvent.

2. Scope of thioglycosides was examined. Disarmed glycosyl donor was not successfully performed in this system of BDSB/AgOTf as activator. In contrast, armed glycosyl donors were smoothly performed under BDSB/AgOTf in acetonitrile at -35 °C to room temperature. Disaccharides (54 and 56) were obtained in low to high yields (26–85%) (Figure 4.1).



Figure 4.1 The glycosyl donor scope of glycosylation with BDSB/AgOTf as activator.

Next, scope of acceptors was examined (Figure 4.2). Glycosylation of α ethyl thioglycoside **34a** and several acceptors was successfully performed and provided *O*-linked glycosides in low to high yields (20–79%) with good β selectivities. Primary glycosyl alcohol **46** was obtained **54b** in 79% with high β selectivity without using neighboring participation group at C2. Other primary alcohols were subjected to the glycosylation. The results indicated that glycosylations were proceeded smoothly to provide the *O*-linked glycosides **57–59** in moderate to high yields (43–73%). Glycosylation with secondary alcohols were investigated. When small molecule of

alcohol was used, the product **60** was obtained in high yield (86% yield). Using bulky secondary alcohols, the products (**61–63**) were obtained in low to moderate yields (20–57%). Next, using 1-adamantanol as tertiary alcohol, the glycosylation was proceeded slowly and obtained low yield of product **64** (35%). However, using unsaturated alcohol such as cholesterol as acceptor for this work was not successfully performed due to bromination of olefinic group.



Figure 4.2 The acceptor scope of α -thioglycoside with BDSB/AgOTf as activator.

Moreover, glycosylations of β thioglycoside **34b** with different glycosyl acceptors were also examined (Figure 4.3). Glycosylation with primary alcohol **46** and **53** were proceeded to obtain disaccharides **54b** and **67b** in good to high yields (85% and 66%, respectively) with only β selectivities. Using secondary alcohol **50**, disaccharide **66** was obtained in moderate yield (43%).



Figure 4.3 The acceptor scope of β -thioglycoside with BDSB/AgOTf as activator.

Finally, the intermediate from glycosylation of thioglycosides activated with BDSB was investigated. Glycosyl chloride intermediate **68** was isolated and confirmed by ¹H NMR.



REFERENCES

1. Lee, B. H.; Bertram, B.; Schmezer, P.; Frank, N.; Wiessler, M., Sugar-Linked Dithiocarbamates as Modulators of Metabolic and Genotoxic Properties of N-Nitroso Compounds. *J. Med. Chem.* **1994**, *37* (19), 3154–3162.

2. Yang, Y.-Y.; Ficht, S.; Brik, A.; Wong, C.-H., Sugar-Assisted Ligation in Glycoprotein Synthesis. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2007**, *129* (24), 7690–7701.

3. Zhang, Z.; Ollmann, I. R.; Ye, X.-S.; Wischnat, R.; Baasov, T.; Wong, C.-H. Programmable One-Pot Oligosaccharide Synthesis. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1999**, *121* (4), 734–753.

4. Jung, M. E.; Yang, E. C.; Vu, B. T.; Kiankarimi, M.; Spyrou, E.; Kaunitz, J. Glycosylation of Fluoroquinolones Through Direct and Oxygenated Polymethylene Linkages as a Sugar-Mediated Active Transport System for Antimicrobials. *J. Med. Chem.* **1999**, *42* (19), 3899–3909.

5. Smith, T. M.; Kirley, T. L. Glycosylation is Essential for Functional Expression of a Human Brain Ecto-apyrase. *Biochemistry.* **1999**, *38* (5), 1509–1516.

6. Calosso, M.; Charpentier, D.; Vaillancourt, M.; Bencheqroun, M.; St-Pierre, G.; Wilkes, B. C.; Guindon, Y. A New Approach to Explore the Binding Space of Polysaccharide-Based Ligands: Selectin Antagonists. *ACS Med. Chem. Lett.* **2012**, *3* (12), 1045–1049.

7. Premathilake, H. D.; Mydock, L. K.; Demchenko, A. V. Superarming Common Glycosyl Donors by Simple 2-O-Benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-O-benzyl Protection. *J. Org. Chem.* **2010**, *75* (4), 1095–1100.

8. Ferrier, R. J.; Hay, R. W.; Vethaviyasar, N. A potentially versatile synthesis of glycosides. *Carbohydr. Res.* **1973**, *27* (1), 55–61.

9. Toshima, K.; Nozaki, Y.; Tatsuta, K. Highly stereoselective glycosylation by conformational assistance of glycosyl donor. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1991**, *32* (47), 6887–6890.

10. Roush, W. R.; Lin, X.; Straub, J. A. A Highly Stereoselective Synthesis of the AB Disaccharide Unit of Olivomycin A. *J. Org. Chem.* **1991**, *56* (4), 1649–1655.

11. Meijer, A.; Ellervik, U. Study of Interhalogens/Silver Trifluoromethanesulfonate as Promoter Systems for High-Yielding Sialylations. *J. Org. Chem.* **2002**, *67* (21), 7407–7412.

12. Xiong, D.-C.; Zhang, L.-H.; Ye, X.-S. Bromodimethylsulfonium Bromide-Silver Triflate: A New Powerful Promoter System for the Activation of Thioglycosides. *Adv. Synth. Catal.* **2008**, *350* (11–12), 1696–1700.

13. Peng, P.; Ye, X. S. *O,O*-Dimethylthiophosphonosulfenyl Bromide-Silver Triflate: A New Powerful Promoter System for the Preactivation of Thioglycosides. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* **2011**, *9* (2), 616–622.

14. Fraser-Reid, B.; Wu, Z.; Udodong, U. E.; Ottosson, H. Armed/Disarmed Effects in Glycosyl Donors: Rationalization and Sidetracking. *J. Org. Chem.* **1990**, *55* (25), 6068–6070.

15. Kamkhachorn, T.; Parameswar, A. R.; Demchenko, A. V. Comparison of the Armed/Disarmed Building Blocks of the D-Gluco and D-Glucosamino Series in the Context of Chemoselective Oligosaccharide Synthesis. *Organic Lett.* **2010**, *12* (13), 3078–3081.

16. Demchenko, A.; Stauch, T.; Boons, G.-J. Solvent and Other Effects on the Stereoselectivity of Thioglycoside Glycosidations. *Synlett.* **1997**, *7*, 818–820.

17. Satoh, H.; Hansen, H. S.; Manabe, S.; van Gunsteren, W. F.; Hünenberger, P. H. Theoretical Investigation of Solvent Effects on Glycosylation Reactions: Stereoselectivity Controlled by Preferential Conformations of the Intermediate Oxacarbenium-Counterion Complex. *J. Chem. Theory Comput.* **2010**, *6* (6), 1783–1797.

18. Chenault, H.; Castro, A.; F. Chafin, L.; Yang, J. The Chemistry of Isopropenyl Glycopyranosides. Transglycosylations and Other Reactions. *J. Org. Chem.* **1996**, *61*, 5024–5031.

Crich, D. Mechanism of a Chemical Glycosylation Reaction. Acc. Chem. Res.
 2010, 43 (8), 1144–1153.

20. Mydock, L. K.; Kamat, M. N.; Demchenko, A. V. Direct Synthesis of Diastereomerically Pure Glycosyl Sulfonium Salts. *Org. Lett.* **2011**, *13* (11), 2928–2931.

21. Nokami, T.; Nozaki, Y.; Saigusa, Y.; Shibuya, A.; Manabe, S.; Ito, Y.; Yoshida, J.-i. Glycosyl Sulfonium Ions as Storable Intermediates for Glycosylations. *Org. Lett.* **2011**,

13 (6), 1544–1547.

22. Kaeothip, S.; Yasomanee, J. P.; Demchenko, A. V. Glycosidation of Thioglycosides in the Presence of Bromine: Mechanism, Reactivity, and Stereoselectivity. *J. Org. Chem.* **2012,** 77 (1), 291–299.

23. Snyder, S. A.; Treitler, D. S. Synthesis of $Et_2SBr \cdot SbCl_5Br$ and Its Use in Biomimetic Brominative Polyene Cyclizations. *Org. Synth.* **2011**, *88*, 54–69.

24. Snyder, S. A.; Treitler, D. S., Et₂SBr•SbCl₅Br: An Effective Reagent for Direct Bromonium-Induced Polyene Cyclizations. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2009**, *48* (42), 7899– 7903.

25. Heuckendorff, M.; Poulsen, L. T.; Hedberg, C.; Jensen, H. H. Dissection of the Effects That Govern Thioglucoside and Thiomannoside Reactivity. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* **2018**, *16* (13), 2277–2288.

26. Kaeothip, S.; Pornsuriyasak, P.; Demchenko, A. V. Silver(I) Tetrafluoroborate as a Potent Promoter for Chemical Glycosylation. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2008**, *49* (9), 1542– 1545.

Matsui, H.; Furukawa, J.-i.; Awano, T.; Nishi, N.; Sakairi, N. Lauryl and Stearyl Thioglycosides: Preparation and Reactivity of the Glycosyl Donor. *Chem. Lett.* 2000, *29* (4), 326–327.

28. France, R. R.; Rees, N. V.; Wadhawan, J. D.; Fairbanks, A. J.; Compton, R. G. Selective Activation of Glycosyl Donors Utilising Electrochemical Techniques: a Study of the Thermodynamic Oxidation Potentials of a Range of Chalcoglycosides. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* **2004**, *2* (15), 2188–2194.

29. Dieskau, A. P.; Plietker, B. A Mild Ligand-Free Iron-Catalyzed Liberation of Alcohols from Allylcarbonates. *Org. Lett.* **2011**, *13* (20), 5544–5547.

30. Konda, S.; Rao, P.; Oruganti, S. Click Chemistry Route to Tricyclic Monosaccharide Triazole Hybrids: Design and Synthesis of Substituted Hexahydro-4H-pyrano[2,3-f][1,2,3]triazolo[5,1-c][1,4]oxazepines. *RSC Adv.* **2014**, *4* (109), 63962–63965.

31. Kalikanda, J.; Li, Z. Study of the Stereoselectivity of 2-Azido-2-deoxygalactosyl Donors: Relationship to the Steric Factors of Glycosyl Acceptors. *Carbohydr. Res.* **2011**, *346* (15), 2380–2383.

32. Ranade, S. C.; Kaeothip, S.; Demchenko, A. V. Glycosyl Alkoxythioimidates as Complementary Building Blocks for Chemical Glycosylation. *Org. Lett.* **2010**, *12* (24), 5628–5631.

33. Zhang, F.; Zhang, W.; Zhang, Y.; Curran, D. P.; Liu, G. Synthesis and Applications of a Light-Fluorous Glycosyl Donor. *J. Org. Chem.* **2009**, *74* (6), 2594–2597.

34. Dinkelaar, J.; de Jong, A. R.; van Meer, R.; Somers, M.; Lodder, G.; Overkleeft, H. S.; Codée, J. D. C.; van der Marel, G. A. Stereodirecting Effect of the Pyranosyl C-5 Substituent in Glycosylation Reactions. *J. Org. Chem.* **2009**, *74* (14), 4982–4991.

35. Nokami, T.; Shibuya, A.; Tsuyama, H.; Suga, S.; Bowers, A. A.; Crich, D.; Yoshida, J.i. Electrochemical Generation of Glycosyl Triflate Pools. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2007**, *129* (35), 10922–10928.

36. Hotha, S.; Kashyap, S. Propargyl Glycosides as Stable Glycosyl Donors: Anomeric Activation and Glycoside Syntheses. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2006**, *128* (30), 9620–9621.

37. Bucher, C.; Gilmour, R., Fluorine-Directed Glycosylation. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.*2010, 49 (46), 8724–8728.

38. Nagai, H.; Sasaki, K.; Matsumura, S.; Toshima, K. Environmentally benign β -Stereoselective Glycosidations of Glycosyl phosphites Using a Reusable Heterogeneous Solid Acid, Montmorillonite K-10. *Carbohydrate Research.* **2005**, *340* (3), 337–353.

39. Heuckendorff, M.; Poulsen, L. T.; Jensen, H. H. Remote Electronic Effects by Ether Protecting Groups Fine-Tune Glycosyl Donor Reactivity. *J. Org. Chem.* **2016**, *81* (12), 4988–5006.

40. Koshiba, M.; Suzuki, N.; Arihara, R.; Tsuda, T.; Nambu, H.; Nakamura, S.; Hashimoto, S. Catalytic Stereoselective Glycosidation with Glycosyl Diphenyl Phosphates: Rapid Construction of 1,2-cis- α -Glycosidic Linkages. *Chem Asian J.* **2008**, *3* (8–9), 1664–1677.

41. Kumar, A.; Kumar, V.; Dere, R. T.; Schmidt, R. R. Glycoside Bond Formation via Acid–Base Catalysis. *Organic Lett.* **2011**, *13* (14), 3612–3615.

42. Mensah, E. A.; Azzarelli, J. M.; Nguyen, H. M. Palladium-Controlled β -Selective Glycosylation in the Absence of the C(2)-Ester Participatory Group. *J. Org. Chem.* **2009**,

74 (4), 1650–1657.

43. Encinas, L.; Chiara, J. L. Polymer-Assisted Solution-Phase Synthesis of Glycosyl Chlorides and Bromides Using a Supported Dialkylformamide as Catalyst. *J. Comb. Chem.* **2008**, *10* (3), 361–363.

44. Zeng, J.; Vedachalam, S.; Xiang, S.; Liu, X.-W. Direct C-Glycosylation of Organotrifluoroborates with Glycosyl Fluorides and Its Application to the Total Synthesis of (+)-Varitriol. *Organic Lett.* **2011**, *13* (1), 42–45.

45. Calosso, M.; Tambutet, G.; Charpentier, D.; St-Pierre, G.; Vaillancourt, M.; Bencheqroun, M.; Gratton, J.-P.; Prévost, M.; Guindon, Y. Acyclic Tethers Mimicking Subunits of Polysaccharide Ligands: Selectin Antagonists. *ACS Med. Chem. Lett.* **2014**, *5* (9), 1054–1059.

46. Chang, C.-F.; Yang, L.-Y.; Chang, S.-W.; Fang, Y.-T.; Lee, Y.-J. Total Synthesis of Demethylwedelolactone and Wedelolactone by Cu-Mediated/Pd(0)-Catalysis and Oxidative-Cyclization. *Tetrahedron.* **2008**, *64* (17), 3661–3666.

47. Bosse, F.; Marcaurelle, L. A.; Seeberger, P. H. Linear Synthesis of the Tumor-Associated Carbohydrate Antigens Globo-H, SSEA-3, and Gb3. *J. Org. Chem.* **2002**, *67* (19), 6659–6670.

48. Zou, L.; Zheng, R. B.; Lowary, T. L. Studies on the Substrate Specificity of a GDP-Mannose Pyrophosphorylase from *Salmonella enterica*. *Beilstein*. *J. Org. Chem.* **2012**, *8*, 1219–1226.

49. Imagawa, H.; Tsuchihashi, T.; Singh, R. K.; Yamamoto, H.; Sugihara, T.; Nishizawa, M. Triethyl- (or Trimethyl-)Silyl Triflate-Catalyzed Reductive Cleavage of Triphenylmethyl (Trityl) Ethers with Triethylsilane. *Organic Lett.* **2003**, *5* (2), 153–155.



Scope of glycosyl donors



Figure A1 ¹H NMR spectrum of compound 54b (400 Hz, CDCl₃).



Figure A2¹³C NMR spectrum of compound 54b (100 Hz, CDCl₃).



Figure A3 ¹H NMR spectrum of compound 54 (400 Hz, CDCl₃) using 36a as donor.



Figure A4 ¹H NMR spectrum of compound 54 (400 Hz, CDCl₃) using 36b as donor.



Figure A5 ¹H NMR spectrum of compound 54 (400 Hz, CDCl₃) using 38b as donor.



Figure A6 ¹H NMR spectrum of compound 54 (400 Hz, CDCl₃) using 39b as donor.



Scope of acceptors

Figure A7 ¹H NMR spectrum of compound 57a (400 Hz, CDCl₃).



Figure A8¹³C NMR spectrum of compound 57a (100 Hz, CDCl₃).



Figure A9 ¹H NMR spectrum of compound 57b (400 Hz, CDCl₃).



Figure A10¹³C NMR spectrum of compound 57b (100 Hz, CD₃CN).



Figure A11 ¹H NMR spectrum of compound 58 (400 Hz, CDCl₃).



Figure A12¹H NMR spectrum of compound 59 (400 Hz, CDCl₃).



Figure A13 ¹H NMR spectrum of compound 60 (400 Hz, CDCl₃).



Figure A14 ¹H NMR spectrum of compound 61b (400 Hz, CDCl₃).



Figure A15 ¹³C NMR spectrum of compound 61b (100 Hz, CDCl₃).



Figure A16 ¹H NMR spectrum of compound 62a (400 Hz, CDCl₃).



Figure A17 ^{13}C NMR spectrum of compound 62a (100 Hz, CDCl_3).



Figure A18 ¹H NMR spectrum of compound 62b (400 Hz, CDCl₃).



Figure A19 ^{13}C NMR spectrum of compound 62b (100 Hz, CDCl_3).



Figure A20 ¹H NMR spectrum of compound 63b (400 Hz, CDCl₃).



Figure A21 ¹H NMR spectrum of compound 64 (400 Hz, CDCl₃).



Figure A22 ¹³C NMR spectrum of compound 64 (100 Hz, CDCl₃).



Figure A23 ¹H NMR spectrum of compound 66 (400 Hz, CDCl₃).



Figure A24 ¹H NMR spectrum of compound 67b (400 Hz, CDCl₃).



Figure A25 ¹H NMR spectrum of compound 68 (400 Hz, CDCl₃).



Figure A26 ¹³C NMR spectrum of compound 68 (100 Hz, CDCl₃).



Figure A27 ¹H NMR spectrum of compound 69 (400 Hz, CDCl₃).



VITA

NAME

Ladawan Punrum (gip.ladawan@gmail.com)

DATE OF BIRTH

25 November 1992

INSTITUTIONS ATTENDED

Bachelor of Science (Chemistry), Ubon Ratchathani University



Chulalongkorn University